Institute of Biomedicine Department of Medical Biochemistry and Developmental Biology Research program of Molecular Neurology, Biomedicum Helsinki University of Helsinki, Finland

## CHARACTERIZATION OF THE MITOCHONDRIAL ACTIVE-SITE SERINE PROTEIN LACTB:

## filaments in the mitochondrial intermembrane space

Žydrūnė Polianskytė

## ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, in Biomedicum Helsinki, Lecture Hall 2, on December 12<sup>th</sup> 2009, at 12h00.

Helsinki 2009

### Supervised by

Docent Ove Eriksson-Rosenberg Research Program of Molecular Neurology, Biomedicum Helsinki Institute of Biomedicine University of Helsinki, Finland

### **Reviewed by**

Professor Hans Spelbrink Institute of Medical Technology University of Tampere, Finland

and

Dr Alexander J. Kastaniotis Department of Biochemistry and Biocenter Oulu University of Oulu, Finland

#### Discussed by

Professor Fabio Di Lisa Department of Biomedical Sciences CNR Institute of Neuroscience University of Padova, Italy

Cover graphics: Electron microscopy micrographs of mitochondria immunolabled with anti-LACTB antibody and purified LACTB filament.

ISBN 978-952-10-5888-2 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-5889-9 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi

Helsinki University Print Helsinki 2009

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Department of Medical Biochemistry and Developmental Biology, and the Research Program of Molecular Neurology in the Institute of Biomedicine (Biomedicum), at the University of Helsinki during 2005-2009. The study was supported by grants from the Academy of Finland, the Sigrid Juselius foundation, Finska Läkaresällskapet, the Magnus Ehrnrooth foundation, the K. Albin Johansson foundation, the University of Helsinki Research foundation and by the Svenska Kulturfonden.

First, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Docent Ove Eriksson-Rosenberg for creating an exciting scientific environment, for wide research discussions and stimulating ideas. I am thankful for his encouragement, motivation, and support when we were facing scientific problems. Thank you for the many advices and for keeping your office door always open whenever I needed.

I am grateful to the reviewers of this thesis, Professor Hans Spelbrink and Dr. Alexander Kastaniotis, for their valuable comments and suggestions. I thank Professor Fabio Di Lisa for accepting the role as an opponent, as well as, Professor Hannu Sariola for agreeing to act as my custos. I wish to thank all my coauthors for their contribution to this project.

I also want to thank the members of the Research Program of Molecular Neurology for creating fruitful research environment and for inspiring meetings. I thank the people of Electron Microscopy Unit at the Institute of Biotechnology and Protein Chemistry/Proteomics Unit at the Institute of Biomedicine for their help with various experiments.

I owe sincere gratitude to my colleagues and friends, Nina Peitsaro, Arvydas Dapkūnas, Isabella Pörn-Ares and Karen Sabatini for a great and lively atmosphere over the years. Thank you for your encouragements, generous support, and kind help in scientific questions, as well as life in general. I remember our morning conversations at the coffee table with home-made cakes (they provided energy to start experiments) and all good times we spent together.

I warmly thank all the members of the Biophysics and Biomembrane group, especially Pavol, Chris and Roberto, for their friendship, for being there to listen and discuss about science and life in Finland.

A special thanks goes to all my friends and neighbours from AKT: Simona, Julius, Betti, Ying-Chan, Babu, Julia, Anil, Prati, Pirjo, Maria, Agne, Sergio, Yulia, Gabi for your friendship, nice evenings, the splendid life and beautiful moments we shared in Helsinki during these years. My friends in Lithuania are thanked for keeping in touch and caring for me.

I am grateful to Professor Vida Mildažiene for having widened my horizon by directing me to Helsinki where I got an opportunity to do my PhD studies. I sincerely thank my teachers: Dr. Dalia M. Kopustinskiene, my first supervisor who introduced me to mitochondria; Dr. Oliver Speer for teaching me molecular and microbiological methods; I am most grateful to Dr. Julius Liobikas for the profound teaching of a variety of biochemical methods. Thank you, Dalia and Julius, for being always there to share your knowledge, for invaluable advices and your friendship in these years though we live in different countries.

I am deeply indebted to my parents and sister, for all their inspiration, love and support.

Finally, the heartfelt words go to my husband István for his continuous love, support and encouragement. Thank you for accepting me as I am and for everything we share in our life.

Žydrūnė Polianskytė-Prause Helsinki, December 2009

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
ABSTRACT	10
INTRODUCTION	11
1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW	12
1.1. Mitochondria	12
1.1.1 Evolution of mitochondria	12
1.1.2 Mitochondrial structure	13
1.1.3 Mitochondrial function	14
1.1.3.1 Mitochondria in energy metabolism	14
1.1.3.2 Other functions of mitochondria	16
1.1.3.3 Mitochondria in cell death	17
1.1.4 Mitochondrial biogenesis	20
1.1.5 Mitochondria in disease	23
1.2 Penicillin binding proteins and $\beta$ -lactamases	27
1.2.1 Penicillin-binding proteins	27
1.2.2 β-lactamases	29
1.3 The active-site serine protein LACTB	30
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	32
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	33
3.1 Bioinformatics (II, III)	33
3.2 Molecular Biology (I, III, IV)	33
3.3 Biochemistry (III)	35
3.4 Proteomics (I, III)	37
3.5 Microscopy (III)	38
4. RESULTS	39
4.1 Description of LACTB	39
4.2 Amino acid and nucleotide sequence analysis of LACTB (II, III)	39
4.3 Phylogenetic analysis of LACTB (II)	40
4.4 Molecular cloning and expression of recombinant LACTB (I)	40
4.5 Purification of recombinant LACTB (I)	41
4.6 Secondary structure of recombinant LACTB (I)	41
4.7 $\beta$ -lactamase activity of LACTB	41

4.8 Subcellular localization of LACTB (III)	42
4.9 Submitochondrial localization of LACTB (III)	42
4.10 Association of LACTB to mitochondrial membranes (III)	42
4.11 Expression of LACTB in mitochondria of different rat tissues	43
4.12 Expression of LACTB during metabolic perturbations	43
4.13 Expression of LACTB mRNA in various human tissues and cancer cell lines (IV)	44
4.14 Analysis of LACTB protein under native and denaturing conditions (III)	44
4.15 Structural analysis of the LACTB polymer (III)	44
4.16 Quantification of LACTB in rat liver mitochondria (III)	45
5. DISCUSSION	46
5.1 Evolution of LACTB	46
5.2 Homology model of LACTB	47
5.3 Evolutionary relationship of mammalian LACTB and bacterial PBPs	47
5.4 Recombinant LACTB	48
5.5 $\beta$ -lactamase activity of LACTB	49
5.6 Subcellular and submitochondrial localization of a soluble LACTB	50
5.7 Expression of LACTB mRNA and protein	50
5.8 Proteolytic processing of LACTB	52
5.9 High molecular weight complex – polymeric filaments	53
6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	57
REFERENCES	59
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	74

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following articles, which are referred to in the text by Roman numerals.

**I.** Liobikas J, **Polianskyte Z**, Speer O, Thompson J, Alakoskela J-M, Peitsaro N, Franck M, Whitehead MA, Kinnunen PJK, Eriksson O.

Expression and purification of the mitochondrial serine protease LACTB as an N-terminal GST fusion protein in *Escherichia coli*.

Prot Exp Purif, 45, 335-342, 2006.

**II.** Peitsaro N\*, **Polianskyte Z\***, Tuimala J, Pörn-Ares I, Liobikas J, Speer O, Lindholm D, Thompson J, Eriksson O.

Evolution of a family of metazoan active-site-serine enzymes from penicillin-binding proteins: a novel facet of the bacterial legacy.

BMC Evolutionary Biology, 8:26, doi:10.1186/1471-2148-8-26, 2008.

**III. Polianskyte Z,** Peitsaro N, Dapkunas A, Liobikas J, Soliymani R, Lalowski M, Speer O, Seitsonen J, Butcher S, Cereghetti GM, Linder MD, Merckel M, Thompson J, Eriksson O.

LACTB is a novel filament-forming protein localized in mitochondria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 106, 18960-18965, 2009.

IV. Polianskyte Z, Thompson J, Eriksson O.

Quantitation of the mRNA levels of obesity-linked protein LACTB in various human tissues.

Submitted.

\* Equal contribution

In addition, some unpublished data are presented.

# ABBREVIATIONS

ATP	adenosine triphosphate
ADP	adenosine diphosphate
AIF	apoptosis-inducing factor
ANT	adenine nucleotide translocator
Apaf-1	apoptotic protease activation factor-1
Bad	Bcl-2 antagonist of cell death
Bak	Bcl-2 homologous antagonist/killer
BCA	bicinchoninic acid
BIR	baculovirus inhibitory repeat domain
cDNA	complementary DNA
CsCl	cesium chloride
C. elegans	Caenorhabditis elegans
$CO_2$	carbon dioxide
dNTP	deoxynucleotide triphosphates
D. melanogaster	Drosophila melanogaster
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EM	electron microscopy
FTIR	fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
GDH	glutamic acid dehydrogenase
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GLT	glutamate transporter
GLU	glucose transporter
GST	glutathione S-transferase
HtrA2	high temperature required protein A2
hLACTB	human LACTB
IAP	inhibitor of apoptosis protein
IBM	inhibitor of apoptosis protein binding motif
IMM	inner mitochondrial membrane
kDa	kilodalton
LACTB	β-lactamase
LPBP	low molecular weight penicillin-binding protein
LRPPR	leucine-rich pentatricopeptide motif-containing protein
MALDI-TOF-MS	matrix-assisted laser desorbtion ionization-time-of-flight
	mass spectrometry
MRP-L	mitochondrial ribosomal protein-larger subunit
mtDNA	mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid
mLACTB	mouse LACTB
mRNA	messenger RNA
PTP	permeability transition pore
RNA	ribonucleic acid
OMM	outer mitochondrial membrane
PBP	penicillin-binding protein
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PG	peptidoglycan

PVDF	polyvinylidine fluoride			
ROS	reactive oxygen species			
S. cerevisiae	Saccharomyces cerevisiae			
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis			
Smac	second mitochondria-derived activator of caspases			
tBid	truncated Bid			
TCA	tricarboxylic acid cycle or Krebs cycle			
TIM	inner membrane translocase			
ТОМ	outer membrane translocase			
VDAC	voltage-dependent anion channel			
2D BN SDS-PAGE	two-dimensional blue native sodium dodecyl sulphate-			
	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis			

## ABSTRACT

Mitochondria have evolved from endosymbiotic  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria. During the endosymbiotic process the machinery for synthesis of the bacterial peptidoglycan layer was eradicated from the bacterial genome. Peptidoglycan is synthesized and maintained by active-site serine enzymes belonging to the penicillin-binding protein and  $\beta$ -lactamase superfamily. Mammals harbor a conserved penicillin-binding protein and  $\beta$ -lactamase homolog named LACTB. Recently, LACTB was validated *in vivo* to be causative for obesity.

The aim of this thesis was to investigate the phylogeny, structure, biochemistry and cell biology of LACTB in order to elucidate its physiological function. We show that LACTB and its eukaryotic homologs are closely related to low molecular weight penicillin-binding proteins class B from the  $\alpha$ -proteobacterial division. We also provide a structural model of LACTB indicating that LACTB shares characteristic features common to all penicillin-binding proteins and  $\beta$ -lactamases. An N-terminal GST-LACTB fusion protein expressed in *E. coli* was recovered in significant quantities, and GST-LACTB was found to be properly folded. We detected that the expression level of LACTB mRNA was higher in high metabolic rate human tissues. We show that LACTB is a soluble protein localized in the mitochondrial intermembrane space. We discovered that the LACTB preprotein underwent proteolytic processing disclosing an N-terminal tetrapeptide motif also found in a set of apoptosis-inducing proteins. Finally, we reveal that LACTB can polymerize to form stable filaments with lengths ranging from twenty to several hundred nanometers.

These results offer novel insight into the evolution of mitochondria. We conclude that LACTB and bacterial penicillin-binding proteins share a common structural function. LACTB filaments define a distinct microdomain in the intermembrane space implying a role for LACTB in the mitochondrial intermembrane space organization and microcompartmentalization. The implications of these findings for our understanding of the regulation of energy metabolism are discussed.

## **INTRODUCTION**

Mitochondria are key organelles essential for oxidative phosphorylation, energy metabolism, assemblage of iron-sulfur clusters and calcium ion homeostasis. In higher organisms, mitochondria also play an important role in the regulation of programmed cell death, apoptosis (Kroemer et al., 2007). Mitochondrial dysfunction and disturbances in the regulation of cell death are associated with diverse diseases including neurodegeneration (Lin and Beal, 2006), cardiomyopathy, cancer and metabolic syndrome (Wallace, 2005).

Mitochondria share several conserved features with their bacterial ancestor, such as a circular DNA, a smaller ribosome, and a double membrane. However, during endosymbiosis early eukaryotes dumped the major component of the bacterial cell wall, the peptidoglycan layer. Peptidoglycan is synthesized and maintained by penicillin-binding proteins and  $\beta$ -lactamases (Macheboeuf et al., 2006). In spite of the lack of peptidoglycan, mammals harbor a protein named LACTB that shares sequence similarity with bacterial penicillin-binding proteins and  $\beta$ -lactamases (Smith et al., 2001).

LACTB is an active-site serine enzyme. In 2005, when this thesis was initiated, only scattered fragments of information were available about LACTB's function. LACTB had been identified in several mitochondrial proteome survey studies (Koc et al., 2001; Taylor et al.; 2003, Mootha et al., 2003), suggesting that LACTB is ubiquitously expressed in mammalian mitochondria. It had been shown that LACTB is regulated at both the transcriptional and posttranslational levels (Kim et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2007). More recent studies demonstrated that LACTB is modulated by an immune response triggered by a viral or fungal infection (He at al., 2006; Johung et al., 2007; Pujol et al., 2008). In skeletal muscle, LACTB mRNA expression is increased by insulin (Rome et al., 2003). Very recently, *Lactb* was validated *in vivo* as an obesity gene (Chen et al., 2008). Gene expression profiling of LACTB transgenic mice revealed that LACTB is associated with fatty acid metabolic pathway (Yang et al., 2009). Altogether, these findings suggest that LACTB is involved in metabolic processes.

Since eukaryotes lack the synthesis machinery for peptidoglycan, the question arises as to what is the biochemical and physiological role(s) of LACTB in metazoans? In this study, bioinformatics analysis, biochemical, proteomic and molecular biology experiments were used to clarify the function of LACTB.

## **1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW**

The focus of this doctoral thesis is LACTB. In the first part of the literature overview the reader will be given a general introduction to the biology of mitochondria: an essential central organelle for cell life and death. In the second part of the literature overview the relation of LACTB with bacterial penicillin-binding proteins and  $\beta$ -lactamases will be described.

## 1.1. Mitochondria

## 1.1.1 Evolution of mitochondria

Mitochondria are semiautonomous organelles that have played a prominent role in the evolution of eukaryotic cells (Embley and Martin, 2006; de Duve, 2007). Mitochondria harbor their own genome comprised of a small circular DNA. In addition, the mitochondrial ribosomes and the double membrane resemble the corresponding bacterial ones. Based on these characteristic prokaryotic-like features, mitochondria are believed to have originated through endosymbiosis of ancient bacteria.

Two versions of the endosymbiotic theory have been proposed for the origin of eukaryotic cells (Margulis, 1981; Cavalier-Smith, 2006). According to one version of the endosymbiotic theory, the eukaryotic cell ancestor was an anaerobic autotrophic archaebacterium. This autotrophic archaebacterium utilized hydrogen as its source of energy for ATP production, and either CO<sub>2</sub>, methylamine, formic acid or acetate as its carbon source (Martin and Muller, 1998). This version of the endosymbiotic theory postulates that the anaerobic ancestor of the eukaryotic cell acquired a mitochondrion through the capture of an aerobically respiring heterotroph, a purple non-sulphur bacterium, belonging to the  $\alpha$ -proteobacterial group (John and Whatley, 1975; Margulis, 1981). In contrast, the other version of the endosymbiotic theory postulates that both host and symbiont were facultative aerobes. A phagotrophic host using oxygen and excreting  $CO_2$  and minerals enslaved a photosynthetic purple non-sulphur  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria for  $CO_2$ fixation through phagocytosis. Furthermore, the photosynthetic purple non-sulphur  $\alpha$ proteobacteria contained precursors of mitochondrial cristae, so called chromotophores. The chromotophores are invaginations from the inner membrane that housed respiration and photosynthesis machineries (Cavalier-Smith, 2006). A consequence of the endosymbiotic relationship was the loss of redundant genes and the transfer of genes from the symbiont to the host's nucleus.

During evolution, the symbiont underwent genome size alterations. The symbiont's lost genes were associated with regulation, transport, metabolism and photosynthesis suggesting that the symbiont's ancestor was metabolically highly versatile (Boussau et al., 2004; Cavalier-Smith, 2006). In addition, the symbiont lost genes for the peptidoglycan layer that is synthesized and maintained by penicillin-binding proteins and  $\beta$ -lactamases (Massova and Mobashery, 1998).

Eukaryotic cells are condemned to retain mitochondria, since the cells have become dependent on mitochondria for vital metabolic processes. Mitochondria by contrast rely on their host, since most of the mitochondrial proteins are encoded by nuclear genes.

#### **1.1.2 Mitochondrial structure**

Mitochondria range from 1-10  $\mu$ m in size. The mitochondrial number varies from a single mitochondrion in retinal cell to thousands of mitochondria in hepatocytes. The mitochondrial shape also varies depending on the cell type, from the tubular-shaped mitochondria in many cell types to mitochondria that consist of sheets and have a spherical-shape (Perkins et al., 2001; Scheffler, 2001). A mitochondrion is delimited by a double membrane that divides the mitochondrion into two distinct subcompartments: the intermembrane space and the matrix.

The outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) is composed of about 50% phospholipids and 50% proteins. The OMM contains an abundant protein, called the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) or porin that under physiological conditions renders the OMM permeable to molecules having molecular mass up to 5 kDa. VDAC belongs to the porin family and has a  $\beta$ -barrel structure like bacterial porins. In this respect, the OMM is reminiscent of the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria.

The inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) is composed of about 20% phospholipids and 80% proteins. The IMM contains a phospholipid with four fatty acyl chains, cardiolipin, which renders the inner membrane impermeable to ions and solutes. It is interesting to note that cardiolipin, found in the bacterial plasma membrane, is predominantly localized in IMM with minor traces in OMM (de Kroon et al., 1997; reviewed by Mileykovskaya and Dowhan, 2009). An impermeable inner membrane is essential for the maintenance of the electrochemical potential required to drive mitochondrial ATP synthesis. Various transporter proteins such as inner membrane translocase (TIM) or adenine nucleotide translocase (ANT) embedded in IMM shuttle proteins and metabolites between the matrix and the intermembrane space. The surface area of the IMM is larger than the outer membrane; therefore, the inner membrane forms numerous invaginations or cristae that protrude into the matrix (fig. 1) (reviewed by Zick et al., 2009).



Fig. 1. Image of mitochondria. (A) Electron micrograph of mitochondria from rat liver tissue. (B) Schematic illustration of mitochondrial structure.

A recent model of the mitochondrial ultrastructure indicates that the IMM is divided to two distinct subcompartments: the inner boundary membrane and the crista membrane (reviewed by Manella, 2006). Thus, the crista separates the intermembrane space into two parts: the intracristal space and the peripheral intermembrane space (Frey et al., 2002). Electron tomography shows that cristae are connected to the inner boundary membrane forming tubular cristae junctions. Cristae junctions are hypothesized to present diffusion barriers for proteins and molecules such as ATP or ADP from the intracristal space to the peripheral part of the intermembrane space (Frey et al., 2002; Manella, 2006). It has been shown that the ATP synthase dimers induce curvature of the inner membrane (Strauss et al., 2008). Thus, the ATP synthase complex can be involved in shaping the cristae. Both the mitochondrial outer and inner membranes undergo remodeling during programmed cell death. Proteins involved in programmed cell death cause an increase in the diameter of the cristae junctions. The increased diameter of crista junction allows the diffusion of proteins into the peripheral part of the intermembrane space for further release to the cytosol (Scorrano et al., 2002). However, the opposite effect has been observed with cristae junctions narrowing during programmed cell death (Yamaguchi et al., 2008), suggesting that various experimental models have different effects on cristae remodeling. To summarize, the functional consequence of cristae junctions is microcompartmentation of metabolites and macromolecules inside cristae.

The unique ultrastructural architecture of mitochondria creates a platform for their many vital functions.

### 1.1.3 Mitochondrial function

Mitochondria play a central role in cellular processes such as oxidative phosphorylation, tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA cycle),  $\beta$ -oxidation of fatty acids, apoptosis, assembly of iron-sulfur clusters and regulation of calcium ion homeostasis.

### 1.1.3.1 Mitochondria in energy metabolism

#### Core energy metabolism

Mitochondria are essential for energy production required to maintain cellular functions. The major energy-generating metabolic pathways of cells include glycolysis, fatty acid oxidation, ketone body oxidation and amino acid catabolism.

Glycolysis, the breakdown of glucose and other carbohydrates, generates NADH and a principal mitochondrial substrate, pyruvate. Pyruvate is further oxidized in the mitochondrial matrix to produce NADH and acetyl-CoA. Carbohydrates represent the main energy source in humans, e.g. the brain uses only glucose under normal conditions. Fatty acid oxidation or  $\beta$ -oxidation also generates acetyl-CoA, NADH and FADH<sub>2</sub>. Fatty acids constitute a major fuel, particularly in resting skeletal muscle and heart. Fatty acid

oxidation intermediates, ketone bodies, are important sources of acetyl-CoA molecules. During a prolonged starvation or in diabetes, the brain uses ketone bodies as energy. In addition, amino acids provide energy for mitochondria. Skeletal muscle uses amino acids as a source of fuel during prolonged starvation and exercise. Amino acids are degraded to pyruvate, acetyl-CoA, acetoacetate, or intermediates of the TCA cycle.

The TCA cycle, comprised of enzyme-catalyzed reactions, involves the final oxidation of metabolites deriving from carbohydrates, fatty acids, and amino acids. The acetyl-CoA derived from glycolysis, fatty acid oxidation and ketone body oxidation serves as the source of energy for the TCA cycle. The NADH and FADH<sub>2</sub> produced in the TCA cycle and in the energy-generating metabolic pathways are donated to the mitochondrial electron transport chain (Schapira, 2002; Nelson and Cox, 2008).

#### Mitochondrial electron transport chain

The mitochondrial electron transport chain or the respiratory chain is composed of four multiprotein enzyme complexes and two electron-carries embedded in the IMM (Schapira, 2002). The mitochondrial respiratory chain mediates the electron transfer from NADH or FADH<sub>2</sub> to the final acceptor, molecular oxygen, producing water. Electron transport is coupled to the pumping of protons across the IMM into the intermembrane space, resulting in the generation of a proton-motive force. This proton-motive force is a combination of the proton concentration gradient ( $\Delta pH$ ) and the membrane electrochemical gradient ( $\Delta \psi_m$ ) (Mitchell, 1961). The movement of protons back into the matrix, down their concentration gradient, is coupled to the phosphorylation of ADP to ATP by complex V (fig. 2). The process, in which ATP is formed as a result of electron transfer from NADH or FADH<sub>2</sub> to oxygen by respiratory chain, is known as oxidative phosphorylation.



Fig. 2. Schematic illustration of the mitochondrial electron transport chain and ATP synthesis. The four complexes of the electron transport chain include: complex I, NADH-dehydrogenase, complex II, succinate dehydrogenase, complex III, ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase, complex IV, cytochrome c oxidase, and complex V, ATP synthase. Cytochrome c and coenzyme Q reside in the IMM and function as an electron shuttles.

Uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation results when substrate oxidation by the mitochondrial respiratory chain is not coupled to phosphorylation. The consequence of

uncoupling is the production of heat instead of ATP. Uncoupling proteins (UCPs) can leak protons across the IMM, and hence uncouple the oxidative phosphorylation causing a decrease in ATP production (Harper et al., 2004). Single electrons can escape from the mitochondrial respiration chain leading to the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS).

Respiratory chain complexes form large supermolecular assemblies called respiratory supercomplexes or respirasomes that may function for efficient electron transport during respiration (Acín-Pérez et al., 2008).

## 1.1.3.2 Other functions of mitochondria

#### Urea cycle

Mitochondria play a role in the urea cycle. Within the urea cycle excess nitrogen is converted into urea. Two reactions of the urea cycle take place in mitochondria: (i) carbomoyl phosphate formation from ammonia and (ii) citrulline formation from carbamoyl phosphate and ornithine.

#### **Biosynthetic reactions**

Mitochondria are vital for several biosynthetic pathways, including steroid, heme, and iron-sulfur cluster synthesis (Scheffler, 2001; Nelson and Cox, 2008).

Cholesterol is a steroid that modulates the fluidity of biological membranes. Furthermore, cholesterol is the precursor of steroid hormones that regulate metabolism, growth and developmental processes. The steroid synthesis pathway is initiated and completed in mitochondria with some intermediate reactions taking place in the cytosol. Similarly to the steroid synthesis pathway, several reactions of the heme synthesis pathway take place in mitochondria. The amino acid glycine and the TCA cycle intermediate succinyl CoA are building blocks for porphyrin synthesis. The addition of iron to the center of the porphyrin ring produces heme, a prosthetic group in proteins such as hemoglobin, catalase, peroxidase, and cytochrome c. Iron-sulfur clusters serve as cofactors for several enzymes, electron carrier proteins, and play an important role in mitochondrial iron homeostasis. Mitochondrial iron homeostasis is maintained by the uptake of iron from the cytosol and the incorporation into iron-sulfur clusters and heme groups (reviewed by Levi and Rovida, 2008). In addition, iron is stored in mitochondria. The mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes contain prosthetic groups such as heme (complex II, III, IV and cytochrome c), iron-sulfur clusters (complex I, II, and III), or copper (complex IV).

### Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis

The calcium ion  $(Ca^{2+})$  is an important intracellular messenger that modulates various processes such as muscle contraction, secretion of signalling molecules, respiration, and cell death (reviewed by Rizzuto and Pozzan, 2006; Pizzo and Pozzan, 2007).

Mitochondria are physiological targets and relay points in the intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling due to their close contact with the largest pool of  $Ca^{2+}$ , the endoplasmic reticulum (Csordas et al., 2006). It has been shown that mitochondrial membrane protein mitofusin 2 tethers the endoplasmic reticulum to mitochondria enabling the efficient  $Ca^{2+}$  uptake (de Brito and Scorrano, 2008). Mitochondrial  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis is maintained by the uptake and release of  $Ca^{2+}$ . A  $Ca^{2+}$ -uniporter present in the IMM transports cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  into mitochondria and an antiporter extrudes  $Ca^{2+}$  back to cytosol (Rizzuto and Pozzan, 2006). The uptake of  $Ca^{2+}$  by mitochondria energy metabolism (Devin and Rigoulet, 2007). Under pathological conditions, an accumulation of  $Ca^{2+}$  within mitochondria may lead to the opening of the permeability transition pore ultimately causing cell death.

#### 1.1.3.3 Mitochondria in cell death

#### **Apoptosis**

Apoptosis, or programmed cell death, is a coordinated process when aged, damaged, or mutated cells are eliminated by phagocytosis (Hail et al., 2006). Necrosis, so called unprogrammed cell death, is caused by tissue injury, infections, toxins and inflammation. Apoptosis and necrosis are defined by a set of changes in cell morphology. A necrotic cell undergoes swelling, a disruption of the plasma membrane, and cell lysis leading to tissue inflammation. An apoptotic cell undergoes shrinkage, chromatin condensation, DNA fragmentation, and budding of the plasma membrane into so called apoptotic bodies.

Apoptosis plays a central role in embryonic development, morphogenesis, tissue homeostasis, and the immune system (reviewed by Meier et al., 2000). Biochemical features of apoptosis and genes encoding apoptosis have been extensively studied in several model organisms including sponge (*Geodia cydonium*), yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*), hydra (*Hydra vulgaris*), nematode (*Caenorhabditis elegans*), fly (*Drosophila melanogaster*), zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) and mice (reviewed by Ameisen, 2002; Oberst et al., 2008). Apoptosis can be divided into initiation, effector and degradation phases. Most of the cell's morphological changes occur during the effector phase of apoptosis.

The main players in the effector phase of apoptosis belong to a family of conserved cysteine proteases known as caspases. Since caspases promote the most visible ultrastructural changes characterizing apoptotic cell death, they are assigned as the central executioners of the apoptotic pathway. In addition, other proteases like cathepsins, calpains, serine proteases and the proteasome complex have been implicated as effectors of apoptosis (Hail et al., 2006). Two major signaling pathways can lead to caspase activation: (i) the extrinsic, receptor-mediated pathway and (ii) the intrinsic, mitochondria-mediated pathway (fig. 3) (reviewed by Kroemer et al., 2007).



**Fig. 3. Receptor- and mitochondria-mediated pathways in mammalian cells.** A family of death receptors e.g. CD95 are responsible for the death receptor-mediated pathway. Binding of CD95 ligands to death receptors forms a death-inducing signaling complex. This complex recruits via the adaptor molecule Fas-associated death domain protein (FADD) and multiple procaspase-8 molecules, resulting in caspase-8 activation. The mitochondria-mediated pathway is responsible for the release of apoptotic proteins from the mitochondrial intermebrane space. Cytochrome c together with the apoptotic protease activation factor-1 (Apaf-1) and procaspase-9 forms the apoptosome that activates effector caspases leading to apoptosis. Apoptosis inducing factor (AIF) and endonuclease G degrade nuclear DNA. A high-temperature requirement (Omi/HtrA2) and a second mitochondria-derived activator of caspases (Smac/Diablo) proteins diminish the inhibitory effect of inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs) which suppress the caspase cascade. Picture modified from Kaufmann and Hengartner, 2001 and Van Gurp et al., 2003.

The receptor-mediated pathway involves plasma membrane proteins of the tumour necrotic factor receptor family. Caspase-8 activated through the receptor-mediated pathway cleaves a pro-apoptotic protein, called Bid. The resulting truncated Bid (tBid), in turn, activates the mitochondria-mediated cell death pathway. Consequently, the Bid protein constitutes a link between the receptor- and mitochondria-mediated pathways.

The mitochondrial pathway involves pro-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family (e.g. Bid, Bad, Bak, and Bax) (reviewed by Youle and Strasser, 2008). tBid triggers conformational change of cytosolic Bax which oligomerizes and translocates to mitochondria (Lovell et al., 2008). The Bcl-2 family proteins act on the mitochondria and trigger OMM permeabilization possibly by interacting with VDAC and ANT (Zamzami and Kroemer, 2001; Belzacq et al., 2003). Bak, present in the OMM, together with Bax forms a tetrameric channel through which cytochrome c and other mitochondrial apoptotic proteins are released (Wei et al., 2001; Van Gurp et al., 2003). In contrast, several anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family (e.g. Bcl-2 and Bcl- $x_L$ ) block cytochrome c release. Thus, the Bcl-2 family proteins function as regulators of cell death and survival.

Activation of the mitochondrial pathway leads to the release of soluble apoptotic proteins such as cytochrome c, AIF, Smac/Diablo, Omi/HtrA2, and endonuclease G from the mitochondrial intermembrane space to the cytosol (fig. 3). These apoptosis inducing proteins can be divided into two classes: caspase-dependent and caspase-independent (Van Gurp et al., 2003).

AIF causes caspase-independent apoptosis. Overexpression of AIF leads to chromatin condensation, DNA fragmentation, and dissipation of the mitochondrial transmembrane potential (Hail et al., 2006). Endonuclease G, a mitochondrial nuclease, also acts independently of caspases. After release from mitochondria, endonuclease G translocates to the nucleus where it degrades the DNA (Susin et al., 2000).

Cytochrome c triggers apoptosis in a caspase-dependent mode (reviewed by Ow et al., 2008). In the cytosol, cytochrome c induces caspase activation by interacting with Apaf-1 (fig. 3). Activated Apaf-1 undergoes ATP-dependent oligomerization and then binds to procaspase-9. This leads to the formation of the so-called apoptosome, the caspase-9 activation complex that cleaves pro-caspase-3. In turn, caspase-3 triggers the final stage of apoptosis causing characteristic changes in cell morphology. Smac/Diablo and Omi/HtrA2 have similar roles in the apoptotic pathway. Smac/Diablo functions as a caspase-dependent apoptosis inducing protein (Van Gurp et al., 2003). Omi/HtrA2 is involved in both caspase-dependent and caspase-independent cell death. Omi/HtrA2 and Smac/Diablo released from the mitochondrial intermembane space contribute to cell death by antagonizing IAPs (fig. 3). These pro-apoptotic IAP antagonists bind to the baculoviral IAP repeat (BIR) domains of IAPs through their conserved N-terminal IAP binding motifs (IBMs) and thereby release active caspases (Verhagen et al., 2007).

The majority of apoptosis inducing proteins exert additional functions. Evidence demonstrates that apoptosis inducing proteins are also involved in cell metabolism (Hammerman et al., 2004). For example, the pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member Bad plays a role in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in  $\beta$ -cells (Danial et al., 2008). Bax regulates mitochondrial morphology. Bax induces mitochondrial fusion by activating the fusion protein mitofusin 2 (Mfn2) (Karbowski et al., 2006), and participates in apoptotic fragmentation of mitochondria when it colocalizes with the fission protein dynamin-related protein 1 (Drp1) (Karbowski et al., 2002). Cytochrome c participates in the mitochondrial respiration by transferring electrons from complex III to complex IV. AIF is a flavoprotein the absence of which compromises the function of the oxidative phoshporylation by affecting complex I assembly (Vahsen et al., 2004). Muscle- and liver-specific AIF targeted deletion protects from obesity and diabetes (Pospisilik et al., 2007). Omi/HtrA2 functions as a chaperone at normal temperature (Spiess et al., 1999). However, under elevated temperatures or during cellular stress such as heat shock or ischemia, Omi/HtrA2 shows protease activity (Gray et al., 2000). In mice, targeted deletion of Omi/HtrA2 causes mitochondrial dysfunction leading to symptoms characteristic for Parkinson's disease (Martins et al., 2004). Recent human genetic studies, however, do not support the hypothesis that Omi/HtrA2 plays a role in Parkinson's disease (Ross et al., 2008). The cell can undergo several distinct destruction pathways, as the loss of one apoptosis inducing protein can be compensated by other apoptosis inducing proteins. In support of this notion are the knockout models of Smac/Diablo, Omi/HtrA2 or other apoptosis inducing protein that had normal apoptosis (Okada et al., 2002; Martins et al., 2004; Harlin et al., 2001). In summary, these studies suggest that mitochondrial apoptosis inducing proteins, while having a primitive function in cell metabolism, were recruited during evolution for apoptosis. The consequences of apoptosis dysregulation include various mitochondrial disorders and cancer (reviewed by Meier and Vousden, 2007).

#### The mitochondrial permeability transition

The IMM is normally impermeable to ions and solutes. However, under certain conditions the IMM can become unselectively permeable to molecules less than 1.5 kDa. A high mitochondrial  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration can lead to the opening of a large conductance channel, the permeability transition pore (PTP) formed at the contact site between the IMM and OMM. Opening of the PTP causes uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation with a collapse of the electrochemical proton gradient and abolished ATP production. Moreover, PTP opening is followed by  $Ca^{2+}$  release, mitochondrial swelling and release of mitochondrial intermembrane proteins involved in apoptosis (Kroemer et al., 2007).

According to the PTP model, the core of the PTP complex is comprised of the VDAC in the OMM, the ANT in the IMM and cyclophilin D in the matrix. In addition, several proteins have been shown to be associated with the PTP: the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor, hexokinase II, mitochondrial creatine kinase, and pro-apoptotic Bax/Bcl-2 family proteins (Zamzami and Kroemer, 2001). Recent studies from knockout animals indicate that ANT and VDAC are dispensable for the function of mitochondrial PTP (Kokoszka et al., 2005; Baines et al., 2007). However, it is suggested that VDAC and ANT isoforms can substitute each other. For example, ANT1 or VDAC2 are required for Ca<sup>2+</sup> or tBid induced cell death, respectively (Lee et al., 2009; Roy et al., 2009). In summary, these contradictory findings show that the PTP model requires further investigation. In contrast, it has been shown in mice knockout model that cyclophilin D has an essential role for PTP regulated cell death (Baines et al., 2005). Fibroblasts and hepatocytes from cyclophilin D deficient mice responded to apoptosis inducing proteins like tBid or Bax. However, cyclophylin D deficient fibroblasts and hepatocytes displayed resistance to ROS and Ca<sup>2+</sup> overload indicating that cyclophilin D-dependent PTP modulates necrotic cell death (Nakagawa et al., 2005). A role of cylophilin D as a potential cancer treatment target is suggested by interaction of cyclophilin D with anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Eliseev et al., 2009). Altogether, the PTP opening constitutes an essential pathway for apoptotic and necrotic cell death.

## 1.1.4 Mitochondrial biogenesis

#### Mitochondrial DNA

Mitochondria contain their own genetic information, the mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) which is inherited exclusively through the maternal lineage. Human mtDNA is associated with IMM and organized in nucleoprotein complexes, known as nucleoids, which contain 2-8 mtDNA copies (Holt et al., 2007). The copy number of mtDNA per cell differs depending on the cell type. For example, a human spermatozoa and a mature oocyte have  $10^2$  and  $10^5$  copies of mtDNA, respectively.

The mitochondrial genetic code is different from the universal genetic code. The mitochondrial genetic code of vertebrates and invertebrates differs from the universal genetic code in four of the 64 codons, while the mitochondrial genetic code of yeast varies from the universal genetic code in three of the 64 codons. One common feature of the

mitochondrial genome of vertebrates, invertebrates and yeast is the TGA codon that is used for tryptophan instead of a stop codon. In addition to the mitochondrial genetic code differences, the size of the mitochondrial genome also varies across the species. In plants, the mitochondrial genome consists of more than  $200 \times 10^3$  base pairs, whereas, the human mitochondrial genome is 10 times smaller and consists of 16,569 base pairs (Scheffler, 2001).

The human mitochondrial genome is a circular double-stranded molecule consisting of a heavy strand (H) and a light strand (L). It encodes 22 transfer RNAs, 2 ribosomal RNAs, and 13 subunits of the mitochondrial respiratory chain complex and is devoid of introns and has only one non-coding region that includes a displacement loop (D-loop). The Dloop contains control elements for mtDNA transcription and replication: the H and L strand promoters, and the mtDNA H-strand replication origin. Transcription from the H and L strand promoters generates the polycistronic precursor RNAs that are further processed to yield the individual transfer RNAs, ribosomal RNAs, and messenger RNAs (mRNA). Most proteins involved in mammalian mtDNA replication and transcription are constituents of nucleoids (Wang and Bogenhagen, 2006). The importance of mtDNA mutations (reviewed by Tyynismaa and Suomalainen, 2009). The mtDNA mutations are proposed to be a major factor in cellular aging and neurodegenerative diseases (Schapira, 2002; Kraytsberg et al., 2006).

#### Mitochondrial protein import

Nucleus-encoded mitochondrial proteins are synthesized as precursor proteins in the cytosol and translocated into mitochondria. The majority of precursor proteins targeted to the matrix, the intermembrane space and the inner membrane carry N-terminal positively charged presequences capable of forming basic amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices. In contrast, most outer membrane proteins and carrier proteins of the inner membrane harbor targeting information within their mature sequences (reviewed by Gakh et al., 2002). The correct import, membrane translocation and sorting of mitochondrial proteins to different mitochondrial subcompartments are ensured by complex protein-import machineries spanning the OMM and IMM (reviewed by Baker et al., 2007; Chacinska et al., 2009).

All precursor proteins are imported into mitochondria through the universal OMM translocase, the TOM complex. The main components of the TOM complex include the receptors Tom20 and Tom70, and the translocation channel Tom40. Tom20 is responsible for the targeting signal recognition, while Tom70 docks the hydrophobic precursor proteins (Saitoh et al., 2007). The Tom40 subunit acts as a membrane translocase (Model et al., 2008). The translocation pathway through the IMM diverges to sort the precursor proteins to their destined mitochondrial subcompartments.

Translocation of soluble matrix or inner membrane proteins containing N-terminal targeting signals across the IMM requires the TIM23 complex (Popov-Celeketic et al., 2008). In contrast, the TIM22 complex is involved in the import of inner membrane proteins with internal signal sequences (Peixoto et al., 2007). The import of proteins through the IMM is driven by the electrochemical potential ( $\Delta \psi$ ) and the chaperone

mtHsp70 (Young et al., 2003). Precursor proteins targeted to various mitochondrial subcompartments are further proteolytically processed by peptidases.

The mitochondrial processing peptidase cleaves matrix-targeting presequences, while the intermembrane space-sorting signals are removed by the inner membrane peptidase (Gakh et al., 2002). The mitochondrial intermediate peptidase performs a second cleavage of proteins that were initially processed by the mitochondrial processing peptidase. Many precursor proteins destined to the mitochondrial matrix or the inner membrane are processed in two steps by the mitochondrial processing peptidase and the mitochondrial intermediate peptidase. An inefficient processing of precursor proteins can cause mitochondrial diseases because the targeting signal might interfere with protein folding or further sorting. The mitochondrial protein-import machinery guarantees a continuous delivery of proteins required for mitochondrial growth and division.

#### Mitochondrial fusion and fission

Mitochondria are highly dynamic organelles, the morphology of which can be regulated by fusion and fission. Mitochondria undergo fusion and fission in response to different biological signals (reviewed by Detmer and Chan, 2007). Fusion and fission allow the mixing of metabolites and mtDNA required for the proliferation and distribution of mitochondria (Legros et al., 2004). According to a recent transient fusion model, the length of fusion events was sufficient to exchange soluble intermembrane space and matrix proteins, proposing that even transient fusion enhances functional stability of mitochondria (Liu et al., 2009).

Mitochondrial fusion involves both OMM and IMM components (Detmer and Chan, 2007). The OMM fusion is controlled by an evolutionary conserved large GTPase: Fzo1p in yeast, and its mammalian homologs, mitofusins 1 and 2 (MFN1 and MFN2) (Chen et al., 2003). The IMM fusion requires a dynamin-like GTPase: Mgm1 in yeast and its mammalian homolog OPA1 (Frezza et al., 2006).

Mitochondrial fission requires a dynamin-related GTPase, Drp1 (yeast homolog Dnm1p) (Smirnova et al., 2001) and a small protein hFis1 (yeast homolog Fis1) (James et al., 2003). Drp1 from the cytoplasm is translocated to mitochondria where it binds to hFis1 and contributes to constriction of the OMM.

In addition to maintaining mitochondrial morphology, fission and fusion proteins modulate cell death. The mitochondrial fission machinery is responsible for mitochondrial fragmentation during apoptosis. Inhibition of Drp1 and Fis1 prevents mitochondrial fragmentation and delays apoptosis (Lee et al., 2004; Estaquier and Arnoult, 2007). In contrast, mitochondrial fusion plays a protective role in apoptosis. Apoptosis is prevented by overexpression of mitofusins (Sugioka et al., 2004). OPA1 regulates apoptosis by controlling crista remodeling and cytochrome c redistribution (Frezza et al., 2006). However, contradictory results suggest that cytochrome c is released without cristae junctions widening (Sun et al., 2007; Yamaguchi et al., 2008). Yamaguchi proposed a model where tBit treatment opens cristae junctions by disassembling OPA1 oligomers (Yamaguchi et al., 2008), disrupts cardiolipin-cytochrome c association (Kim et al., 2004) and releases cytochrome c through Bax/Bak pores (Lovell et al., 2008). Thus,

mitochondrial morphology depends on the balance between antagonistic fusion and fission processes.

### 1.1.5 Mitochondria in disease

Disturbances in the mitochondrial function can lead to characteristic metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders. A large number of factors contribute to metabolic and neurodegenerative mitochondrial disorders, including genetic factors, oxidative stress, aging, reduced oxidative phosphorylation,  $\beta$ -oxidation, and altered ion homeostasis (reviewed by Wallace, 2005).

#### **Obesity and diabetes**

Obesity is a worldwide metabolic disorder associated with type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases (reviewed by Kim et al., 2008). Obesity increases the risk to develop insulin resistance. Insulin resistance is defined as a decreased response by skeletal muscle, liver and adipose tissue to insulin. Consequently, insulin resistance leads to the metabolic disorder, type 2 diabetes (reviewed by Kahn et al., 2006; Muoio and Newgard, 2008).

Glucose homeostasis is maintained by insulin-responsive organs: skeletal muscle, liver and adipose tissue. Insulin secreted by pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells decreases glucose production from liver, and increases glucose uptake, storage and utilization in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue. Oxidative mitochondrial metabolism plays a central role in the glucosestimulated insulin secretion pathway from pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells. Glucose oxidation promotes the insulin secretion through an increased ATP production. An increased ratio of ATP to ADP causes the closure of ATP-sensitive  $K^+$  channels, depolarization of the plasma membrane, and the opening of voltage-sensitive Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels. The resulting increase in the cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration triggers insulin secretion (Kahn et al., 2006). In addition, a role for mitochondrial uncoupling protein, UPC2, in insulin secretion has been suggested in mice models used for studying obesity and obesity-related diabetes (Zhang et al., 2001; Joseph et al., 2004). These studies indicate that an increased expression of UCP2 and a UCP2-mediated proton leak decreases ATP production. A decreased ATP production impairs insulin secretion, resulting in  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction and metabolic disturbances. However, recent studies show that overexpressed UCP3 or carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1, which is involved in long chain fatty acyl CoA transport to mitochondria (reviewed by Kerner and Hoppel, 2000), have a protective role in insulin resistance (Choi et al., 2007; Bruce et al., 2009).

According to one model, defects in glucose transport and lipid metabolism impair the insulin signaling pathway. The insulin signaling cascade is inhibited by fatty acid metabolites. Fatty acid metabolites deriving from adipocytes are elevated by stress or excess nutrient intake (Bergman and Ader, 2000). Accumulation of fatty acid and lipid metabolites such as fatty acyl-CoAs, diacylglycerol, and ceramide, activates serine/threonine kinases that phosphorylate the insulin receptor substrate family members

(Itani et al., 2002; Bandyopadhya et al., 2006; Holland et al, 2007). Phosphorylated insulin receptors cause increased glucose production in liver, reduced glucose uptake in the skeletal muscle and finally insulin resistance (fig. 4) (Lowell and Shulman, 2005). Whereas, alternative obesity studies suggest that increased rates of fatty acid oxidation and mitochondrial overload of lipids contribute to insulin resistance (Koves et al., 2008).



Fig. 4. The molecular mechanism of insulin resistance in (A) skeletal muscle and (B) liver. (A) Intracellular long-chain fatty acyl CoA (LCFA-CoA) and diacylglycerol (DAG) levels are increased due to the increased delivery from plasma or from decreased mitochondrial  $\beta$ -oxidation, caused by mitochondrial dysfunction. Increased levels of LCFA-CoA and DAG activate serine/threonine kinases such as protein kinase C. The activated kinases phosphorylate the serine residue of the insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) and inhibit insulin-induced phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K). Inhibition of PI3K results in a reduction of insulin-stimulated protein kinase B (Akt) activity. Decreased Akt activity results in suppression of insulin-induced glucose transport through GLU4 transporter. Consequently, this leads to a reduced insulin-induced glucose uptake and glycogen synthesis. (B) Serine/threonine kinases are activated by an increased level of DAG due to an increased delivery of fatty acids from plasma or an increased de novo lipid synthesis, or from impaired  $\beta$ -oxidation. Activated serine/threonine kinases reduce insulin receptor kinase activity and impair IRS-2 tyrosine phosphorylation, leading to a reduced Akt activity and increased gluconeogenesis. Picture modified from Morino et al., 2006.

In obesity and type 2 diabetes, the increased release of hormones such as leptin and adiponectin from adipose tissue is associated with insulin resistance (Scherer, 2006). Moreover, in obese individuals an increased release of the proinflammatory cytokines tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , interleukin-6, and C-reactive protein might lead to inflammation and insulin resistance (reviewed by Schenk et al., 2008).

Several genes associated with obesity and diabetes have been identified (O'Rahilly and Farooqi, 2006; Barrosos, 2005). Leptin is the most extensively investigated obesity gene. Leptin acts through the central nervous system to regulate food intake and energy expenditure (Friedman and Halaas, 1998). Genome-wide association studies have identified novel genetic variants that could contribute to the development of type 2 diabetes. Type 2 diabetes-associated variants are located near genes such as cyclin-depended kinase 5, fat mass and obesity associated protein, and insulin-like growth factor 2 binding protein 2 (Zeggini et al., 2007; Scott et al., 2007). Recently several studies of gene networks have identified candidate genes for obesity, including zinc finger protein 90,

lipoprotein lipase (Lpl), protein phospatase 1-like (Ppm11), and LACTB (Schadt et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2008). *Lpl, Ppm11* and *Lactb* were validated as obesity genes in mice knockout and transgenic models, respectively. Besides, environmental factors such as an increased energy intake and decreased energy expenditure influence the development of obesity (Kahn et al., 2006).

#### Oxidative stress and aging

Oxidative stress is defined as an imbalance between the production and the elimination of ROS. Mitochondria are both targets and sources of ROS. Complex I and complex III of the mitochondrial respiratory chain are the main production points of ROS. Accumulation of ROS can induce opening of the mitochondrial PTP (Lemasters et al., 1998). Cell survival is dependent on the antioxidant system that includes enzymatic scavengers: superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase. Thus, the reduced efficiency of the antioxidant system leads to ROS accumulation (Melov et al., 1999).

Excessive ROS can promote oxidative damage to membrane lipids, proteins and DNA (Barja, 2004). The mitochondrial theory of aging postulates that the mtDNA is located in close proximity to the main source of ROS production. ROS damage to mtDNA impairs the mitochondrial respiratory chain function, which further enhances ROS generation. In turn, enhanced ROS generation leads to more mtDNA damage creating a vicious cycle (reviewed by Beckman and Ames, 1998; Finkel and Holbrook, 2000). Recently, this theory was challenged by studies on long-lived vertebrate species, mutants and transgenic animals (reviewed by Bufferenstein et al., 2008). Nevertheless, many lines of evidence demonstrate that an age-dependent increase in oxidative stress and mitochondria dysfunctions contribute to the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (reviewed by Lin and Beal, 2006).

#### Neurodegenerative diseases

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common neurodegenerative disorder characterized by a selective loss of neurons in the hippocampus and the cerebral cortex (Lin and Beal, 2006). The pathological features of AD are extracellular amyloid plaques that contain cleavage products (amyloid- $\beta$  (A $\beta$ )) of amyloid precursor protein and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles components of hyperphosphorylated tau protein. Mutations in three genes encoding the amyloid precursor protein, presenilin 1 and 2 have been linked to AD. It was shown that A $\beta$  inhibits respiration and enzyme activity of  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase and pyruvate dehydrogenase in isolated mitochondria (Casley et al., 2002). A $\beta$  can directly induce oxidative stress and neuronal death through the interaction with mitochondrial alcohol dehydrogenase (Lustbader et al., 2004) and cyclophilin D (Du et al., 2008). The amyloid precursor proteins (Wang et al., 2008). These observations support a link between mitochondria and AD.

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the most common neurodegenerative movement disorder (Lin and Beal, 2006). Selective loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantial nigra and

the appearance of cytoplasmic  $\alpha$ -synuclein-immunoreactive inclusions, termed Lewy bodies, are the symptoms of PD. Mutations linked to parkinsonism include  $\alpha$ -synuclein, parkin, DJ-1 and PINK1 genes:  $\alpha$ -synuclein can polymerize into filaments and is found in Lewy bodies (Fornai et al., 2005); parkin encodes a ubiquitine E3 ligase that targets ubiquitine labeled substrates for degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (Kitada et al., 1998) and is involved in mitochondrial autophagy (Narendra et al., 2008); DJ-1 participates in the oxidative stress response (Bonifati et al., 2003); PINK1 maintains mitochondrial membrane potential and protects from apoptosis induced by proteasome inhibitors (Valente et al., 2004). Some of these gene products contribute to mitochondrial dysfunction. For example, mutated parkin and proteasome inhibition results in mitochondrial swelling, cytochrome c release and apoptosis (Darios et al., 2003), parkin and PINK1 deficiency leads to mitochondrial fragmentation (Lutz et al., 2009), while overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein impairs mitochondrial activity and increases oxidative stress (Hsu et al., 2000).

Huntington's disease (HD) is an autosomal dominant neurodegenerative disease. HD is characterized by cognitive impairment and loss of neurons in the cortex and the striatum. HD is caused by multiple CAG repeat expansion in the huntingtin gene. The toxic effect of polyQ expansion degenerates neurons in the striatum and the cerebral cortex (Lin and Beal, 2006). Brain mitochondria isolated from transgenic mice which express full-length huntingtin containing 72 CAG repeats show an impaired Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake and an increased susceptibility to the mitochondrial PTP activation (Panov et al., 2005). Mutant huntingtin causes mitochondrial fragmentation that is likely mediated through inhibition of mitochondrial fusion (Wang et al., 2009). Furthermore, the mitochondrial serine protease Omi/HtrA2 is involved in HD. Mouse mnd2 (motor neuron degeneration 2) phenotype has a mutation in Omi/HtrA2 and show common features of HD, including involuntary movements and massive loss of striatal neurons (Rathke-Hartlieb et al., 2002).

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) leads to progressive muscle wasting and weakness. 90% of ALS cases are sporadic, while 10% of ALS cases are familial. 20% of familial ALS are caused by mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase (SOD). Mutant SOD forms aggregates in the intermembrane space and the matrix of brain mitochondria triggering mitochondrial dysfunction (Vijayvergiya et al, 2005; Magrane et al., 2009). However, also during normal aging SOD aggregates in motor neurons, aggregates of A $\beta$  in AD and  $\alpha$ -synuclein in dopaminergic neurons result from the accumulation of misfolded and damaged proteins (Lin and Beal, 2006). Such protein aggregates might arise as a consequence of oxidative damage, mitochondrial dysfunction and impaired proteosome function (Glickman and Ciechanover, 2002).

Mutations in mitochondrial proteins can also cause neurodegenerative diseases (reviewed by Knott et al., 2008). For example, autosomal dominant optic atrophy is characterized by degeneration of the optic nerve, retinal ganglion cells, and progressive loss of vision (Delettre et al., 2002). Mutations in the mitochondrial fission protein OPA1 cause autosomal dominant optic atrophy. Down regulation of OPA1 by RNAi causes mitochondrial fragmentation and leads to apoptosis which partially explains the disease mechanism (Lee et al., 2004).

Based on a large number of studies, it is established that neurodegenerative diseases involve mitochondria as a final common pathway. Thus, therapies targeting processes such as ROS generation, the proteosome and mitochondrial proteins involved in diseases could provide a treatment for neurodegenerative diseases.

## **1.2 Penicillin binding proteins and β-lactamases**

### **1.2.1 Penicillin-binding proteins**

Penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) form a distinct family of acyl serine transferases. PBPs catalyze the final steps in the synthesis of the major bacterial cell wall component, peptidoglycan (PG) (reviewed by Sauvage et al., 2008).

In gram-positive bacteria, PG constitutes a thick multilayer outside the bacterial cytoplasmic membrane. In contrast, gram-negative bacteria have a thin layer of PG located in the periplasmic space between outer and inner bacterial membranes. PG confers a mechanic and osmotic resistance to the bacterial cell wall. In addition, PG dictates cell shape since it undergoes constant chemical changes during cell growth and division (reviewed by Macheboeuf et al., 2006). During growth and division, bacteria can synthesize a new PG and hydrolyse the existing PG in order to enable an insertion of new material (Scheffers and Pinho, 2005). The synthesis and hydrolysis of PG require a coordination of several different enzymes. It was proposed and subsequently demonstrated by protein-protein interaction studies (von Rechenberg et al., 1996) that a multienzyme complex participates in the PG synthesizing machinery (fig. 5). The PG synthesizing machinery combines activities of PG hydrolases and PG synthases such as transpeptidases and transglycosylases.



Fig. 5. Proposed model of peptidoglycan growth. A multienzyme complex synthesizes three new cross-linked glycan strands (grey) with the assistance of enzymes such as transpeptidase (TP), bifunctional transpeptidase-transglycosylase (TP/TG) and transglycosylase (TG). A multienzyme complex attaches these glycan strands to the cross bridges on both sides of a docking strand (single grey strand) and concomitantly degrades this strand. Enzymes such as lytic transglycosylase (LT) and endopeptidase (ED) participate in the hydrolysis process. Picture modified from Höltje, 1998.

The assembly of PG requires the polymerization of glycan chains composed of N-acetylglucosoamine (NAG) and N-acetylmuramic acids (NAM). Subsequently, these glycan chains are cross-linked via D-alanyl-D-alanine bond of muramyl pentapeptide units (fig. 6) (Ghuysen, 1991; Macheboeuf et al., 2006).



Fig. 6. Chemistry of the peptidoglycan synthesis. The basic unit of the PG is a disaccharidepentapeptide composed of amino sugars NAG and acid NAM linked together by  $\beta$ -1,4 glycosidic bonds. PBP catalyze the (a) transglycosylation and (b) transpeptidation. The transglycosylation reaction involves formation of the glycosidic bonds of the PG, whereas the peptide side-chains of different PG strands are cross-linked by transpeptidase activity. DD-carboxypeptidases remove terminal D-alanine from the monomeric or dimeric disaccharide pentapeptide side-chains and DDendopeptidases cleave cross-linked peptide side-chains (Höltje, 1998). Meso-DAP (mesodiaminopimelic acid) in gram-negative bacteria is changed to L-Lys in gram-positive bacteria.

All PBPs harbor three conserved amino acid motifs: SXXK, (S/Y)XN and (K/H)(T/S)G (Ghuysen, 1991; Massova and Mobashery, 1998). The SXXK motif contains the active site serine residue that underoges acylation and deacylation cycles, and forms a covalent bond with substrate. The (S/Y)X(N/T) motif points to the active site cleft and participates in the hydrolysis. The (K/H)(T/S)G motif is involved in substrate docking.

PBPs are grouped into two classes: the high and low molecular weight PBPs (Ghuysen, 1991; Sauvage et al., 2008). The high molecular weight PBPs are bifunctional enzymes catalyzing both the transpeptidation of the peptide chains and the transglycosylation of the glycan strand. In contrast, the low molecular weight PBPs act as DD-carboxypeptidases hydrolysing the D-alanine residue of the pentapeptide. High and low molecular weight PBPs are further subdivided into classes A, B, and C on the basis of amino acid sequence similarities.

PBPs from different classes perform different functions associated with bacterial cell shape and division machineries. *E. coli* PBP2 and PBP5 are involved in bacterial cell shape maintenance (Nanninga, 1998; Ghosh et al., 2008), whereas, *Streptococcus* PBP3 and *Staphylococcus* PBP1 are implicated in bacterial cell division (Morlot et al., 2004; Pereira et al., 2009).

PBPs are target sites of penicillins and other  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics.  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics are compounds produced by fungi and bacteria that act by inhibiting bacterial cell wall synthesis.  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics acylate the active-site serine residue of PBPs thus rendering the PBP devoid of transpeptidase activity (Ghuysen, 1991).

#### **1.2.2** β-lactamases

 $\beta$ -lactamases are enzymes responsible for bacterial resistance to  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics (e.g. penicillins and cephalosporins).  $\beta$ -lactamases inactivate  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics by hydrolyzing the peptide bond of the  $\beta$ -lactam ring rendering the antibiotic inactive (fig. 7). During evolution bacteria producing  $\beta$ -lactamases gained a distinct survival advantage. However, resistance to  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics is an increasing clinical problem nowadays. Infections caused by resistant bacterial strains can lead to epidemics and greater risk of death.



*Fig. 7. Penicillin inactivation reaction.* The reactive site of penicillin is the peptide bond of its  $\beta$ -lactam ring. Inactive penicillin is formed from the hydrolysis of the  $\beta$ -lactam ring.

 $\beta$ -lactamases are categorized into four classes, A, B, C and D based on the amino acid sequence similarity and the catalytic mechanism (Bush et al., 1995). Classes A, C, and D are active-site serine enzymes, whereas class B, termed metallo  $\beta$ -lactamases, requires zinc ions (Massova and Mobashery, 1998).

Serine  $\beta$ -lactamases share structural similarities with the targets of  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, the PBPs. Based on the published studies it has been accepted that serine  $\beta$ -lactamases and PBPs emerged from the same ancestral enzyme (Ghuysen, 1994; Medeiros, 1997). Structure-based phylogeny of the serine  $\beta$ -lactamases and PBPs indicate that the class C serine  $\beta$ -lactamases are more similar to low molecular weight PBPs (Massova and Mobashery, 1998). Furthermore, the class C serine  $\beta$ -lactamases predates the divergence of classes A and D from the common ancestor (Hall and Barllow, 2003). X-ray crystallographic comparison of several PBPs and the class C  $\beta$ -lactamases revealed structural similarities such as a single domain containing two regions, one  $\alpha/\beta$  and one allhelical with the catalytic site lying between them, and the three conserved amino acid motifs described in chapter 1.2.1 (fig. 8).

Thus, PBPs and  $\beta$ -lactamases constitute a large superfamily of active-site serine enzymes that are responsible for the synthesis and maintenance of PG.



*Fig. 8.* Crystal structures of (a) D-aminopeptidase from Ochrobactum anthropii (Bompard-Gilles et al., 2000), (b) the DD-carboxypeptidase from Streptomyces R61 (Kelly and Kuzin, 1995), (c) the class C  $\beta$ -lactamase from Burkholderia gladioli (Wagner et al., 2002), (d) the class C  $\beta$ -lactamase from Enterobacter cloacae P99 (Lobkovsky et al., 1993). 3-dimensional (3D) models were made with the program Pymol.

## 1.3 The active-site serine protein LACTB

LACTB is a homolog to bacterial PBP and  $\beta$ -lactamase enzymes. LACTB has not yet been systematically analyzed and only some scattered information is available about its physiological function. LACTB was mentioned in the literature for the first time when the cDNA encoding LACTB was cloned from mouse liver by Smith in 2001 (Smith et al., 2001). Mouse LACTB is a 551 amino acid long containing an active site motif related to class C  $\beta$ -lactamases (Rawlings and Barrett, 1994). Homologues of LACTB were identified in several mammals, toad, fish, and nematodes, but not in yeast or fly.

LACTB has been detected in mitochondrial proteome studies soon after the first report of LACTB. LACTB has been identified in the mitochondria of human and mouse heart, mouse brain, liver, kidney and other tissues suggesting that LACTB is a ubiquitous mitochondrial protein (Taylor et al., 2003; Mootha et al., 2003; Gaucher et al., 2003; Pagliarini et al., 2008). It has been reported that LACTB, also referred in literature as MRP-L56, was co-purified with the 39S subunit of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome (Koc et al., 2001). LACTB was also identified in the extracellular space and associated with membrane fraction indicating that LACTB might be localized in other cellular compartments (Clark et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2008).

Several studies revealed that LACTB is regulated at both the transcriptional and the posttranslational levels. The LACTB mRNA expression was increased by insulin in human

skeletal muscle suggesting that LACTB might play a role in anabolic processes (Rome et al., 2003). LACTB is regulated at the posttranslational level by acetylation and phosphorylation. Lysine acetylation of LACTB occurs during starvation indicating that LACTB is modulated by acetyltransferases and deacetylase enzymes (Kim et al., 2006; Schwer et al., 2006). Conversely, the first serine residue located in the catalytic -SISK-motif of LACTB was phosphorylated under normal conditions suggesting that LACTB is activated by a specific phosphoprotein phosphatase (Lee et al., 2007). Altogether, these studies indicate that the LACTB function might be regulated by posttranslational modifications.

Microarray analysis of murine macrophages after infection with virulent intracellular bacteria, *Brucella melitensis*, showed that *Lactb* was down regulated. *Lactb* grouped together with down-regulated macrophage genes involved in cell growth and metabolism (He et al., 2006). In contrast, microarray analysis of HeLa carcinoma cells repressed by bovine papillomavirus E2 protein revealed that *Lactb* was induced in the senescence undergoing HeLa cells (Johung et al., 2007). Furthermore, a PBP homolog *Lact-1* was up regulated in *C. elegans* after infection with fungus, *Drechmeria coniospora* (Pujol et al., 2008). These findings propose that LACTB might also have a function in immune response against viral or fungal infections.

Conclusive evidence for the role of LACTB in metabolism came when *Lactb* was validated to be a causal gene for obesity in gene network studies (Schadt et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2008). In *Lactb* transgenic mice, the fat mass to lean mass was increased by 20% compare to wild-type controls (Chen et al., 2008). Further characterization of *Lactb* transgenic mice revealed that LACTB is associated with fatty acid metabolism (Yang et al., 2009). Liver gene expression profiling of *Lactb* transgenic mice showed down regulation of fatty acid metabolic pathway. Interestingly, in genome-wide cDNA expression screen *Lactb* was identified as a repressor gene implicated in sterol regulatory element-binding protein pathway (Chatterjee et al., 2009). Sterol regulatory element-binding proteins, a family of transcription factors, regulate the expression of genes involved the synthesis of cholesterol, fatty acids and triglycerides.

At the time this project was started neither enzymatic substrates nor physiological function of mammalian LACTB were known.

## 2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The goal of this study was to investigate LACTB protein in order to elucidate its physiological role.

The specific aims of this study were the following:

- To clone the *Lactb* gene for expression of LACTB protein in *E. coli* and mammalian cells for cellular biology studies.
- To investigate the expression level of LACTB mRNA.
- To purify the recombinant LACTB protein from *E. coli* and endogenous LACTB from rat liver mitochondria for biochemical and structural characterization.
- To identify protein-protein interaction partners of LACTB.
- To perform a phylogenetic analysis to investigate the evolutionary history of LACTB.
- To perform homology modeling to generate a structural model of LACTB.

## **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

The methods used in this study are shortly described together with some methodological considerations. Further details about methods and materials are available in the original publications.

## **3.1 Bioinformatics (II, III)**

Genomic DNA, EST, and protein data bases comprised of eukaryotic genome projects were searched for LACTB homologs using BLAST program. The mitochondrial targeting sequence was predicted using Mitoprot program. Binary amino acid alignments were made using DOTLET and LALIGN. Multiple alignments of amino acid sequences were made using ClustalW. Phylogenetic analysis was performed by maximum likelihood using the PROMLK program of the Phylip package. 3D structure predictions performed using the I-TASSER server and visualized using PyMOL.

## 3.2 Molecular Biology (I, III, IV)

## Polymerase chain reaction

A full-length LACTB cDNA from mouse *Mus musculus* (clone BC046293: pCMV SPORT6.1-mLACTB) was amplified by the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using Phusion DNA polymerase (Finnzymes). Primers used for the PCR are specified in the original paper **I**.

## Plasmid generation. Molecular cloning

Cloning and high-level expression of tagged recombinant protein in *E. coli* or mammalian cells were performed according to the Invitrogen Instruction manual using Gateway technology (Invitrogen).

*Plasmids, bacterial strains and cell lines.* Gateway entry and destination plasmids used for prokaryotic expression system or for eukaryotic expression system are summarized in table 1. HeLa cells expressing red fluorescent protein targeted to mitochondria (mtRFP) were used for recombinant LACTB protein expression. Chemically competent *E. coli* used for recombinant LACTB protein expression in the prokaryotic expression system are described in table 2. Expression of recombinant protein is induced by isopropyl- $\beta$ -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) in *E. coli* strains expressing the T7 RNA polymerase.

Table 1. Gateway plasmids used in the experiments.

Entry plasmid	
pENTR/SD/D-TOPO	
Destination plasmid	Fusion tag
pDEST 15	N-terminal GST
pDEST 17	N-terminal His
pDEST 24	C-terminal GST
pET-DEST 42	C-terminal His
pcDNA-DEST 47	C-terminal GFP

Table 2. E. coli strains used in experiments.

E. coli strain	Application
DB3.1	Gateway plasmids contain the toxic ccdB gene. <i>E. coli</i> strain DB3.1 was used to propagate Gateway plasmids without insert.
TOP10	<i>E. coli</i> strain TOP10 alows stable replication of high-copy number plasmids and was used to propagate pENTR/SD/D-TOPO entry plasmid with insert.
XL2-blue	<i>E. coli</i> strain XL2-blue allows high-efficiency cloning and was used to obtain a high-quality plasmid DNA.
BL21 (DE3)	<i>E. coli</i> strain BL21 (DE3) is designed for use with any bacteriophage T7 promoter based expression systems. It was used for high-level expression of recombinant protein in E. coli.

*Gateway cloning reaction.* The Gateway cloning reaction was carried out to insert the PCR product into the plasmid. Briefly, fresh PCR product (50-100 ng/µl) purified from 0.8% agarose-gel using the NucleoSpin Extract Kit (Macherey-Nagel) was mixed with pENTR/SD/D-TOPO entry plasmid. *E. coli* strain TOP10 were transformed with this plasmid DNA by heat shock treatment and thereafter plated onto agar plates containing appropriate antibiotics. After incubation overnight at  $+37^{\circ}$ C, single colonies were picked and used to inoculate 5 ml Luria Bertani (LB) medium containing appropriate antibiotics. The pENTR/SD/D-TOPO plasmid DNA was purified using the NucleoSpin kit (Macherey-Nagel) following the manufacturer's instructions.

*Gateway recombination reaction.* The Gateway recombination reaction was performed between the pENTR/SD/D-TOPO plasmid containing the mouse LACTB (mLACTB) insert and five different destination plasmids. The Gateway recombination reaction yielded five expression plasmids (fig. 9). E. coli strain XL2-blue was transformed with the recombination reaction mixture. Expression plasmid DNA was purified as mentioned above. *E. coli* strain BL21 (DE3) was transformed with this expression plasmid for prokaryotic expression systems.



Fig. 9. Schematic representation of mLACTB expression plasmids used in the experiments. mLACTB fused to N- or C-terminal GST or His tags were used to investigate the recombinant mLACTB expression in E. coli. Full-length mLACTB C-terminally fused to GFP was generated for expression in mammalian cells. MIS-mitochondrial import sequence.

#### Restriction endonuclease DNA digestion and sequencing

Restriction endonuclease DNA digestion was performed to verify positive plasmids containing the mLACTB insert (New England Biolab's manual instructions). Plasmids verified by restriction endonuclease DNA digestion were sent for sequencing at the sequencing facility of Helsinki University. DNA sequencing was carried out to verify that the mLACTB insert had a correct reading frame.

#### Expression and purification of recombinant mLACTB

*E. coli* strain BL21 (DE3) transformed with expression plasmids was cultured in LB medium containing appropriate antibiotic. Further protein expression and purification procedures are described in the original paper **I**.

#### Analysis of LACTB mRNA expression

The Human Multiple Tissue Expression array (BD Biosciences, Clontech) was used for analysis of LACTB mRNA expression. Detailed method of sample preparation and hybridization is described in the original paper **IV**.

## 3.3 Biochemistry (III)

#### **Experimental** animals

Wistar rats were kept in an animal facility and treated according to the ethics guidelines of the European Union.

### Liver preparations of ethanol-treated mice

Ethanol-treated liver samples were a kind gift from Kai Lindros. Mice had been fed with ethanol or with a control diet for six weeks. Livers were excised and directly frozen in liquid nitrogen. Frozen liver was ground to powder and dissolved in SDS-PAGE sample buffer for LACTB protein analysis.

### Mitochondria preparations

*Isolation of mitochondria.* Mitochondria were isolated from liver, kidney, lung, skeletal muscle, heart, brain, spleen, testis, lacrimal gland, adrenal gland, thymus and brown fat tissues of male Wistar rats as described in the original paper **III**. Mitochondria were isolated also from the liver of Wistar rats starved for 24 hours.

*Submitochondrial fractionation*. Freshly isolated liver mitochondria were incubated with various concentrations of the detergent digitonin to solubilize mitochondrial membranes. Modified trypsin (Promega) (2  $\mu$ g/1 mg protein) was used to hydrolyze the accessible mitochondrial proteins.

Separation of water soluble proteins from membrane bound proteins. 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> buffer was used to separate soluble proteins from integral membrane proteins.

*Extraction of mitochondrial intermembrane space proteins*. Mitochondrial intermembrane space proteins were isolated by selective disruption of the outer mitochondrial membrane by hypo-osmotic shock using 68 mosm KPi, pH 7.4. Centrifugation at 30'000 x g for 20 min at  $+4^{\circ}$ C was carried out to separate the released intermembrane space proteins from the mitochondrial matrix and membrane components. The resulting supernatant was centrifugated at 200'000 x g for 30 min at  $+4^{\circ}$ C to obtain a pellet which contains protein complexes with high sedimentation coefficient.

The supernatant containing mitochondrial intermembrane space proteins was briefly treated with 0.1% glutaraldehyde. Glutaraldehyde cross-links proteins in close proximity to each other. The effect of glutaraldehyde was neutralized using a high concentration of glycine (100 mM). After centrifugation at 200'000 x g for 30 min at +4°C, the resulting pellet was layered on a discontinuous CsCl gradient. Isopycnic separation was carried out by centrifugation at 200'000 x g for 16 hours at +4°C. Fractions were collected for electron microscopy studies.

## $\beta$ -Lactamase activity

β-Lactamase activity was measured using nitrocefin (Calbiochem) as the test substrate according to the user's protocol. Nitrocefin undergoes a change in absorbance from  $\lambda$ =390 nm to  $\lambda$ =486 nm, causing a color change from yellow to red, when the β-lactam ring is hydrolyzed. Purified GST-mLACTB (5-20 µg) and the partially purified endogenous LACTB from rat liver were used to determine their β-lactamase activity. The β-lactamase activity was monitored by measuring changes in absorbance at  $\lambda$ =486 nm on spectrophotometer (Parkin-Elmer). β-lactamase from *Enterobacter cloacae* (Fluka) was used as a positive control.
#### Fourier transform infrared spectrometry

The secondary structure of the protein was analyzed by Fourier transform infrared (FTRI) spectrometry. FTRI spectra were recorded on a Bruker Equinox 55 FTRI spectrometer equipped with a mercury-cadmium-telluride detector.

#### Protein concentration determination

The Bis-cinchinonic acid (BCA) assay (Pierce) was used for the colorimetric detection and quantitation of total protein. The BCA assay is a detergent-compatible method based on the alkaline reduction of the cupric ion to the cuprous ion by the protein. The Lowry method was used for low concentrations of protein since it is more sensitive. The Lowry method is based on cupric ions and Folin-Ciocalteau reagent for phenolic groups.

# **3.4 Proteomics (I, III)**

#### Gel electrophoresis and immunoblotting

Proteins were separated according to their molecular weight by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). Proteins were electrotransferred onto PVDF membranes (0.2  $\mu$ m, Bio-Rad). Immunoblotting was performed to determine a specific protein. Immunoreactive bands were detected by chemiluminescence (Santa Cruz Biotechnology kit) and developed using an X-ray film processor (Fuji, Inc). Antibodies used for immunoblotting are specified in the original papers I and III.

#### Two dimensional blue native SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

Extracted mitochondrial intermembrane space proteins were separated by two dimensional blue native SDS-PAGE electrophoresis (2D BN SDS-PAGE). In the first dimension, proteins were separated under native conditions according to their molecular weight. In the second dimension, proteins were separated according to their molecular weight by SDS-PAGE. Detailed experimental conditions of 2D BN SDS-PAGE method are described in the original paper **III**.

# Matrix-assisted laser-induced ionization-desorption and time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry

Coomassie-stained bands were excised from the SDS-PAGE and 2D BN SDS-PAGE gels. Proteins were prepared by in-gel trypsinization method for analysis by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry as described in original papers **I** and **III**. Mass spectrometry was performed using a MALDI-TOF mass spectrometer (Bruker Autoflex III, Germany) at the Protein Chemistry Laboratory at Institute of Biomedicine, University of Helsinki.

# 3.5 Microscopy (III)

#### Electron microscopy

*Postembedding immogold labeling.* Biopsy samples of rat heart, kidney, skeletal muscle, spleen and liver, as well as freshly isolated mitochondria were prepared by chemical fixation in a buffer containing 0.1 M NaPi, pH7.4, 4% paraformaldehyde, 0.2% glutaraldehyde, and 0.5% DMSO. Embedding, sectioning, staining and immunolabeling were performed according to the Tokuyasu method (Tokuyasu, 1973). Cryo-sections of the tissue and isolated mitochondria were viewed using a Joel 1200 EX II electron microscope. *Whole-mount immunolabeling.* Mitochondrial intermembrane space proteins separated by CsCl-gradient centrifugation were examined by whole-mount immunolabeling. Immunolabeled whole-mount samples were negatively stained with uranyl acetate. Samples were examined under a Philips Tecnai F20 electron microscope. Detailed methods of electron microscopy (EM) sample preparation are described in the original paper **III**.

### 4. RESULTS

## 4.1 Description of LACTB

Mouse LACTB is 551 amino acids long and comprised of an N-terminal predicted mitochondrial import segment followed by a PBP and  $\beta$ -lactamase (PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase) homology domain (fig. 10). Mouse LACTB shares around 90% amino acid identity with rat and human LACTB.

*MYRLLSSVTARAAATAGPAWDGGRRGAHRR*PGLPVLGLGWAGGLGLGLALGAKLVVGLR GAVPIQSPADPEASGTTELSHEQALSLGSPHTPAPPAARGFSRAIESSGDLLHRIKDEVGAPGIVV GVSVDGKEVWSEGLGYADVENRVPCKPETVMRIA*S*\**ISK*SLTMVALAKLWEAGKLDLDLPVQ HYVPEFPEKEYEGEKVSVTTRLLISHLSGIRHYEKDIKKVKEEKAYKALKMVKGTPPPPDQEKE LKEKGGKNNEKSDTPKAKAEQDSEARCRSAKPGKKKNDFEQGELYLKEKFENSIESLRLFKND PLFFKPGSQFL*YST*FGYTLLAAIVERASGYKYLDYMQKIFHDLDMLTTVQEENEPVIYNRARFY VYNKKKRLVNTPYVDNSYKWAGGGFLSTVGDLLKFGNAMLYGYQVGQFKNSNENLLPGYL KPETMVMMWTPVPNTEMSWDKEGK\*YAMAWGVVEKKQTYGSCRKQRHYAS*HTG*GAVGAS SVLLVLPEELDSEAVNNKVPPRGIIVSIICNMQSVGLNSTALKIALEFDKDRAD

*Fig. 10. Amino acid sequence of mLACTB. Amino acids* 1-30 – *mitochondrial predicted targeting sequence; SISK, YST, HTG* – *catalytic site motifs. Phosphorylated serine and acetylated lysine marked with* \* (*Kim et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2007*).

# 4.2 Amino acid and nucleotide sequence analysis of LACTB (II, III)

Extensive analyses were performed to characterize LACTB. The human LACTB sequence was used to search for metazoan homologs. Metazoan proteins harboring the three active site motifs (-SXXK-, -(S/Y)X(N/T)-, -(K/H)(S/T)G-) of PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamases were classified as LACTB family proteins (**II**, table 1). LACTB orthologs were found in all completely sequenced vertebrate genomes. In addition, LACTB orthologs were found in *Ciona intestinalis*, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*, *C. elegans* and *briggsae*, *Schistosoma japonicum*, and *Dictyostelium discoideum*.

An amino acid sequence alignment of the active site motifs and their flanking regions was performed. The analysis of amino acid sequence alignment showed that the active site motifs and several amino acids flanking the active site motifs are conserved in all analysed taxa from bacteria to humans (**II**, fig. 1A).

Compared to bacterial PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamases, the metazoan LACTB orthologs harbor a 50-100 amino acid long N-terminal extension and a 95 amino acid long insertion in the PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase domain. Sequence analysis of metazoan LACTB orthologs with Mitoprot indicated that the N-terminal amino acid extension represented a predicted mitochondrial import sequence (**II**, fig. 1A). Further sequence analysis showed that mitochondrial import sequence directed to the matrix is followed by a sorting signal composed of hydrophobic amino acids (**III**, fig. 2B). Analysis of the 95 amino acid long insertion in the PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase domain revealed that the insert was enriched in charged and hydrophobic amino acids, having a high probability for coiled-coil formation (**III**, fig. 4 A, B).

The gene structure of the metazoan LACTB orthologs was analyzed (II, fig. 1B). The results showed that the structure of *Lactb* is similar in all metazoan LACTB orthologs. In all vertebrates the *Lactb* contained six exons. These results indicate that the gene structure of LACTB is well-conserved.

Next, the arrangement of the catalytic site motifs and conserved amino acids flanking the active site motifs in human and *C. elegans* LACTB were compared with a set of founding members of the each PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase class (**II**, fig. 2). The results showed that LACTB was closely related to the class B of low molecular weight PBPs (LPBP-B). A sequence comparison of the PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase domain of LACTB and LPBP-B proteins showed 16-27% sequence identity. A comparison of the LACTB amino acid sequence with the sequences of available crystallized LPBP-B proteins (see Literature overview section 1.2.2, fig. 8 a-c) revealed several conserved amino acids that are important for the polypeptide fold formation of the 3D structure (**II**, additional file 2).

## 4.3 Phylogenetic analysis of LACTB (II)

To gain insight into the evolutionary history of the LACTB family proteins, phylogenetic analysis was performed. The amino acid sequence of the PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase domain of the metazoan LACTB family proteins, *Dictyostelium* LACTB homologs, and bacterial LPBP-B proteins were aligned. The inferred phylogenetic tree indicated that the LACTB family is divided into four groups which were named: LACTB orthologs, LACTB-like 1, LACTB-like 2, and esterase-like proteins (**II**, fig. 3). Bacterial LPBP-B proteins were intercalated with the different LACTB groups, suggesting that the LACTB family comprises of four alloparalogus protein lineages.

Interestingly, LACTB orthologs clustered together with LPBP-B proteins from freeliving  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria *Maricaulis maris*, *Oceanicaulis alexandrii*, and *Sphingopyxis alaskensis*. Similarly, esterase-like proteins clustered with a putative esterase from  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria *Hyphomonas neptunium*. The LACTB-like group 1 and 2 proteins are clustered with the putative peptidases from  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* and *Mesorhizobium loti*, respectively. These results suggest that the LACTB family derive from  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria.

# **4.4 Molecular cloning and expression of recombinant LACTB** (I)

The cDNA of mLACTB was cloned for recombinant mLACTB protein expression in *E. coli*. Immunoblotting analysis revealed that *E. coli* expressed recombinant mLACTB protein (fig. 11).





One immunoreactive band corresponding to a molecular weight of 90 kDa was visualized for GST-mLACTB. However, the expression of His-mLACTB, mLACTB-GST or mLACTB-His resulted in multiple fragments or incorrect molecular weight products. MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry of the bands detected by the antibody confirmed that all products contained the C-terminus of the LACTB.

## 4.5 Purification of recombinant LACTB (I)

The GST-mLACTB was purified by glutathione-agarose affinity chromatography. The band corresponding to a molecular weight of 90 kDa was revealed on the SDS-PAGE gel stained by Coomassie (I, fig. 1). MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry verified that this band contained the full-length GST-mLACTB (I, fig. 2). The yield of GST-mLACTB was about 2 mg per liter of culture medium.

## 4.6 Secondary structure of recombinant LACTB (I)

To investigate the secondary structure of the purified GST-mLACTB, the FTIR spectrometry was performed. The FTIR spectrum showed that the GST-mLACTB was comprised of 29%  $\alpha$ -helices, 22%  $\beta$ -sheets, 31% turns, and 17% random coil suggesting that the GST-mLACTB had an ordered secondary structure (**I**, fig. 3).

## 4.7 β-lactamase activity of LACTB

The PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase homology domain of LACTB contains the serine protease SXXK motif. Therefore, the catalytic activities of GST-mLACTB and endogenous LACTB were

investigated. However, using nitrocefin as a test substrate for  $\beta$ -lactamase activity no enzymatic activity of the GST-mLACTB and endogenous LACTB was detected.

#### **4.8 Subcellular localization of LACTB (III)**

Proteome survey studies have given contradictive results regarding the subcellular localization of LACTB. Therefore, the subcellular localization of LACTB was tested using rat liver. Different liver fractions were analyzed by immunoblotting with anti-LACTB antibody. The immunoreactivity of LACTB was detected in the mitochondrial fraction (**III**, fig. 1C).

# 4.9 Submitochondrial localization of LACTB (III)

To determine the submitochondrial localization of LACTB, the biochemical and EM experiments were performed. Mitochondria were permeabilized with the detergent digitonin and subsequently treated with trypsin. Immunoblotting showed that at a digitonin concentration sufficient to permeabilize the OMM (0.3 mg digitonin per mg protein) LACTB was effectively hydrolyzed by trypsin. The same hydrolysis effect was seen for the intermembrane space proteins OPA-1 and AIF, while the mitochondrial matrix protein Hsp60 was not affected (**III**, fig. 1D).

Furthermore, immunoelectron microscopy performed on cryo-sections prepared from rat tissues and isolated mitochondria confirmed that LACTB was localized in the mitochondrial intermembrane space (III, fig. 1F and supplementary fig. S4). Statistical analysis of the immunogold-labeled liver cryo-sections was performed. It was found that 83% of the nanogold particles were arranged on mitochondria, especially over the cristae.

#### **4.10** Association of LACTB to mitochondrial membranes (III)

To assess the disposition of LACTB on mitochondrial membranes, mitochondria after hypo-osmolar incubation were treated with alkali buffer (NaCO<sub>3</sub>). The alkali treatment caused colocalization of LACTB together with soluble protein cytochrome c, peripherally associated with IMM, while integral membrane proteins porin and prohibitin remained in membrane pellet (**III**, fig. 1E).

# 4.11 Expression of LACTB in mitochondria of different rat tissues

The expression level of the LACTB protein was investigated in mitochondria isolated from different rat tissues. The highest LACTB protein expression levels were observed in the liver, testis, spleen, lacrimal and adrenal glands, and kidney mitochondria, while mitochondria from the thymus, lung and brown fat tissues had lower levels of LACTB protein (fig. 12).



*Fig. 12. Expression of LACTB protein in various rat tissues. Mitochondrial proteins were separated on a 10% SDS-PAGE and LACTB protein was visualized by immunoblotting using the anti-LACTB and porin antibodies (unpublished data).* 

Weak immunoreactive bands of higher molecular weight were detected for the LACTB protein in the skeletal muscle, heart and brain mitochondria.

# 4.12 Expression of LACTB during metabolic perturbations

Several studies suggest that LACTB is involved in metabolic processes. Therefore, the expression level of LACTB was tested during metabolic perturbations. First, the expression level of LACTB was investigated in the liver of rats starved for 24 hours. However, no significant difference in the LACTB protein expression level was observed between the starved rats and the control rats. Second, the expression level of LACTB protein was investigated in the liver of ethanol-treated mice. Immunoblotting showed a profound decrease in the LACTB protein expression for mouse liver treated with an ethanol diet (fig. 13).



Fig. 13. Effect of ethanol feeding on the LACTB protein expression level in the mouse liver. Mice were fed with an ethanol or a control diet for six weeks. Tissue samples from control and ethanol treated mice (n=3) were separated on a 10% SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with anti-LACTB and actin antibodies (unpublished data).

# **4.13 Expression of LACTB mRNA in various human tissues and cancer cell lines (IV)**

The relative levels of LACTB mRNA expression in human tissues and cancer cell lines were determined. The highest mRNA expression levels of LACTB were found in the heart, skeletal muscle, liver and kidney, while the lowest were found in the thyroid gland, uterus and ovary (**IV**, fig. 1). Fetal tissues contained lower levels of LACTB mRNA than the corresponding adult tissues (**IV**, fig. 2). Interestingly, several cancer cell lines contained very low levels of LACTB mRNA (**IV**, supplementary table 1).

# **4.14** Analysis of LACTB protein under native and denaturing conditions (III)

To determine the native molecular weight of LACTB and to identify protein-protein interaction partners of LACTB, mitochondrial intermembrane space proteins were separated by 2D BN SDS-PAGE. Immunoblotting using the LACTB antibody revealed a LACTB band ranging from 600 kDa to several MDa in the native direction of the gel (III, fig. 2A). In the denaturing direction, this band separated into a major 55 kDa component and a minor 200 kDa component. These findings suggest that LACTB is part of a high molecular weight complex or forms a homopolymer.

MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry confirmed that both the 55 kDa and 200 kDa immunoreactive bands contained LACTB. The major 55 kDa immunoreactive band yielded a high-scoring MS/MS spectrum from peptides covering 47% of the amino acid sequence of LACTB (**III**, fig. 2B-D). Moreover, a MS/MS spectrum of a 3676.3 Da peptide was obtained. This peptide subjected to MALDI-TOF-TOF analysis could be assigned to the N-terminal 38 amino acid segment of LACTB starting from alanine 63 (**III**, fig. 2C).

In order to search for proteins that might participate in a complex formation with LACTB, the high molecular weight region of the 2D BN SDS-PAGE gel was analyzed by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry (III, fig. 2A). Proteins such as glutamate dehydrogenase, carbamoylphosphate synthase, and the cytosolic ribosomal proteins 60L and 40L were identified (III, supplementary table 1).

## 4.15 Structural analysis of the LACTB polymer (III)

Since LACTB migrated as a high molecular weight protein under native conditions, the possibility that LACTB forms an organized structure was investigated. The mitochondrial intermembrane space proteins separated by CsCl-gradient centrifugation were examined by transmission EM. Filaments composed of globular subunits were observed at a gradient density of  $1.25-1.28 \text{ g/cm}^3$  (III, fig. 3A). The length of the filaments varied from twenty to

several hundred nanometers. Immunoblotting and MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry confirmed that this CsCl-gradient fraction contained LACTB.

To answer the question as to whether LACTB formed filaments, whole-mount immunoelectron microscopy was performed. The results showed that LACTB antibodies coupled to nanogold particles exclusively labeled the filaments (**III**, fig. 3B). To gain insight into the subunit organization of the filament, images of 128 subunits were aligned and averaged (**III**, supplementary fig. 3). According to the tilting and averaging, the subunit volume was calculated to be 360 nm<sup>3</sup>. It was calculated that this volume can accommodate 3-5 molecules of LACTB.

## 4.16 Quantification of LACTB in rat liver mitochondria (III)

To estimate the amount of LACTB in mitochondria, the high molecular weight region of the 1D BN PAGE gel was analyzed by SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis and quantitative immunoblotting (**III**, supplementary fig. S6). Based on the intensity of Coomassie stained and immunolabeled 55 kDa bands, the amount of LACTB was estimated to be 20+/-6 pmol/mg mitochondrial protein. Comparison with other mitochondrial proteins showed that liver mitochondria contain, on average, 1500 molecules of LACTB (**III**, supplementary table S2). These results indicate that 1500 molecules of LACTB can form eighteen filaments with a length of one hundred nanometers each.

### **5. DISCUSSION**

## **5.1 Evolution of LACTB**

The bacterial PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase proteins are essential for the synthesis of the PG layer and the maintenance of cell morphology (Cabeen and Jacob-Wagner, 2005; Macheboeuf et al., 2006; Ghosh et al., 2008). In contrast, the function of the metazoan PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase family proteins remains largely unknown. Recent evidence suggests that the mammalian PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase homolog LACTB (Smith et al, 2001) is involved in metabolic signaling (Rome et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2008). Therefore, by clarifying the evolutionary history of LACTB may provide clues about the function of the metazoan PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase homologs.

Similarity searches for LACTB in the eukaryote genome data bases revealed orthologs in vertebrate, tunicate, echinodermata, nematode, platyhelminthes, and mycetozoa genomes. However, no homologs of LACTB were found in the yeast *S. cerevisiae* or in insect *D. melanogaster*. All LACTB orthologs contain conserved catalytic site signature motifs (Ghuysen, 1991; Massova and Mobashery, 1998). Furthermore, the identification of several conserved amino acids flanking the active site motifs suggest that LACTB and the bacterial PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamases share common features in the secondary and tertiary structure.

Metazoan LACTB orthologs, by contrast to bacterial PBP/β-lactamases, contain a predicted mitochondrial import sequence and a 95 amino acid long insertion in the PBP/β-lactamase domain suggesting that these segments have evolved in eukaryotes. The predicted mitochondrial import sequence of LACTB suggests that LACTB is targeted to mitochondria. The 95 amino acid long insertion forms a coiled-coil alpha-helical structure. Coiled-coils are oligomerization motifs found in a variety of proteins that function as molecular scaffolds for the cell cytoskeleton (Rose and Meier, 2004). For example, a conserved sequence of a coiled-coil structure is responsible for the polymerization of cytoplasmic intermediate filaments (Oshima, 2007). Based on this observation, we propose that the predicted coiled-coil segment might contribute to the polymerization of LACTB.

Bacterial PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamases family proteins are classified according to the three common catalytic site signature motifs, the specific amino acids in the active site motifs and the number of amino acid residues between the three motifs (Bush et al., 1995; Massova and Mobashery, 1998). Comparing the arrangement of the active site motifs and their amino acids in metazoan LACTB with the bacterial PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamase classes revealed that LACTB derives from LPBP-B proteins. LPBPs act as D-alanyl-D-alanine carboxypeptidases hydrolyzing the PG (Gosh et al., 2008). LACTB groups together with the LPBP-B proteins and contains the conserved catalytic serine residue suggesting that LACTB possess a peptidase or esterase activity. Therefore, LACTB can be classified as an active-site serine enzyme.

#### 5.2 Homology model of LACTB

Currently three proteins from the LPBP-B subclass have been crystallized: a D-alanyl-Dalanine carboxypeptidase from *Streptomyces* R61, a D-alanyl-D-alanine aminopeptidase from *Ochrobactrum anthropii*, and a transesterase from *Burkholderia gladioli* (Kelly and Kuzin, 1995; Bompart-Gilles et al., 2000; Wagner et al., 2002). These enzymes share a similar polypeptide fold. Amino acid sequence alignments of LACTB with these LPBP-B proteins revealed a high degree of amino acid conservation in the structurally critical elements of the polypeptide fold suggesting that LACTB forms a similar polypeptide fold.

Homology modeling of LACTB using the crystal structure of the D-alanyl-D-alanine carboxypeptidase from the *Streptomyces* R61 as a template supported this hypothesis. The homology model showed that LACTB shared a similar polypeptide fold consisting of  $\alpha/\beta$  region and all-helical region, with the catalytic site located between them (**III**, fig. 4 C). Additionally in the LACTB model, the predicted coiled-coil segment was located on the surface of LACTB, permitting formation of a flexible loop. In summary, holomogy modeling indicates that LACTB and bacterial LPBP-B proteins share common ancestry and features in the 3D structure organization.

# **5.3 Evolutionary relationship of mammalian LACTB and bacterial PBPs**

Phylogenetic analysis revealed that the LACTB family is organized into four alloparalogus lineages deriving from four separate bacterial LPBP-B subclass genes. Since LACTB orthologs clustered together with LPBP-B proteins from free-living  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria, the ancestors for the LACTB family most likely were acquired simultaneously from early  $\alpha$ -proteobacterium. It is possible that these  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria harbored four LPBP-B genes encoding structurally related proteins with different biochemical functions. However, during eukaryotic evolution some of these genes were eradicated from the  $\alpha$ -proteobacterial genome following endosymbiosis (Boussau et al., 2004). This would explain why LACTB-like proteins 1, in contrast to LACTB-like proteins 2, do not appear in nematodes, while LACTB orthologs are widely distributed among the metazoan taxa. In addition, the lack of PG synthesis mechanism in metazoans due to a gene loss might explain the absence of enzymatic substrates for the LACTB family proteins.

Nevertheless, the homologs of bacterial PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamases are conserved in eukaryotes indicating that the LACTB family proteins play a significant role in eukaryotes. Several speculations can be invoked to explain why LACTB has been conserved in eukaryotes.

First, the phagocytotic feeding and hydrolysis of ingested PG would promote the preservation of PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamases genes in early eukaryotes. For example, *C. elegans* that feeds on soil bacteria retained the genes for hydrolysis of ingested PG. Moreover, the metabolism of vertebrates is linked to the metabolism of its gut microbe flora that release specific microbial metabolites. Germ-free mice colonized with an obese gut microbe showed an increase in total body fat which was associated with changes in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism (Turnbaugh et al., 2006). Furthermore, the obese microbe flora had

an increased efficiency to extract energy from the diet indicating that the gut microbe flora can contribute to obesity. According to these observations, a participation of LACTB in the metabolism of some yet unidentified substrate(s) deriving from commensal bacteria can not be ruled out.

Second, phagocytosis is a defense mechanism of the innate immune response during a pathogen infection. A microorganism infection triggers the innate immune system of a vertebrate through germline-encoded pattern-recognition receptors like the Toll-like receptors. Toll-like receptors are expressed on various immune cells, including macrophages, B cells and specific type T cells. These receptors are involved in the recognition of a variety of bacterial components (Akira et al., 2006). Indeed, the lipopolysaccharide of the gut microbiota has been identified as an inflammatory cause for insulin resistance, obesity and diabetes diseases (Cani et al., 2007). Lipopolysascharide is the major component of the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria, while PG is a major component of the membrane in gram-positive bacteria. Several pieces of evidence indicate that PG is a potent immunogen and can trigger innate immune response in mammals (Steiner, 2004; Hamilton et al., 2006). Innate immune response in C. elegans has been triggered after fungal infection (Pujol et al., 2008). In this study, a PBP homolog Lact-1 was up regulated after fungal infection. Pujol et al. speculated that LACT-1 may be involved in pathogen recognition. Surprisingly, microarray studies have showed that Lactb together with other murine macrophage genes associated with cell growth and metabolism was down-regulated after Brucella melitensis bacterial infection (He et al., 2006). These bacteria belong to a-proteobacteria and share similar features such as the phospholipid components of the membrane and homologous genes with mitochondria (Ramirez-Romero, 1998). In addition, these bacteria suppressed expression of the mitochondrial genes involved in apoptosis activation. Based on these observations, down-regulation of LACTB might be explained by a decreased immunity response of the murine. Altogether, data suggest that LACTB has a relevant implication in metabolism and immune response of eukaryotes.

# 5.4 Recombinant LACTB

The expression of recombinant proteins fused to GST in *E. coli* allows production and purification of proteins. Studies have shown that recombinant GST fusion proteins expressed in *E. coli* have similar properties compared to the non-fused GST proteins, can be expressed at high levels, and are soluble (Mercado-Pimentel et al., 2002). When LACTB was expressed as an N-terminal GST fusion protein, a significant amount of the full-length GST-mLACTB was recovered by glutathione-agarose affinity chromatography. The FTIR analysis revealed that the GST-mLACTB had an ordered secondary structure. However, the GST domain of the GST-mLACTB protein itself contains 49%  $\alpha$ -helices and 7%  $\beta$ -sheets (Cardoso et al., 2003), and therefore, the tag might interfere with the results of GST-mLACTB FTIR spectrum. The estimated content of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -structures in the GST-mLACTB corresponds to the amount present in the bacterial class C  $\beta$ -lactamases (Powers et al., 2001) suggesting that the GST-mLACTB was properly folded.

When LACTB was expressed as a C-terminal GST fusion protein and as an N-terminal or C-terminal His<sub>6</sub> fusion protein, it underwent proteolytic degradation. Consequently, our results indicate that the N-terminal GST tag protected mLACTB from proteolysis. Furthermore, these results suggest that the N-terminal mitochondrial targeting sequence promoted proteolysis. This could be due to autoproteolysis or proteolysis by bacterial proteases. The *E. coli* strain BL21(DE3) are protease-deficient, therefore, these results support autoproteolysis. The autoproteolysis might be a maturation or an activation process. It is interesting to note, that the serine protease Omi/HtrA2 can also undergo autoproteolysis and this autoproteolytic processing of the recombinant Omi/HrtA2 protein depends on the affinity tag position (Savopoulos et al., 2000).

#### **5.5** β-lactamase activity of LACTB

LACTB belongs to the family of PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamases.  $\beta$ -lactamases inactivate  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics by hydrolyzing the peptide bond of the  $\beta$ -lactam ring (Ghuysen, 1991; Massova and Mobashery, 1998). However, the purified GST-mLACTB and endogenous LACTB that were tested for  $\beta$ -lactamase activity demonstrated no catalytic activity.

First, the absence of enzymatic activity in the GST-mLACTB and the endogenous LACTB may be due to experimental conditions. The serine protease Omi/HtrA2 shows proteolytic activity at elevated temperatures (Spiess et al., 1999). The catalytic activities of GST-mLACTB and endogenous LACTB were tested at room temperature, which possibly explains their lack of catalytic activity. Second, the absence of enzymatic activity might be due to an incorrect substrate used in the experiment. Instead of  $\beta$ -lactamase activity, LACTB could act as a PBP and catalyze the hydrolysis of the D-alanyl-D-alanyl peptide bond. Furthermore, the  $\beta$ -lactam ring of  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics resembles the D-alanyl-Dalanyl peptide and binds irreversibly to PBPs. Thus, a third reason for the lack of enzymatic activity might be explained through the enzyme inactivation. Fourth, endogenous LACTB might be inactive and activated only during certain phases of cell cycle. It has been shown that Streptoccocus pneumonia PBP1b (Macheboeuf et al., 2005) and E. coli PBP3 (Eberhardt et al., 2003) are activated during cell division. Lastly, a fifth reason for the lack of endogenous LACTB enzymatic activity might be a posttranslational modification. Posttranslational modification of proteins by phosphorylation can alter the protein-protein interactions and the enzymatic activity (Lee et al., 2007). For example, the serine protease activity of Omi/HtrA2 is attenuated through the phosphorylation of Ser212 (Yang et al., 2007). Mitochondrial phosphoproteome studies revealed that the catalytic serine residue located in the -SISK- motif of LACTB is phosphorylated under normal conditions (Lee et al., 2007). Therefore, questions whether the posttranslational modification by phosphorylation may inhibit the LACTB enzymatic activity and what factors activate LACTB remain unanswered.

An esterase from *Burkholderia gladioli* (EstB) also belongs to the class of hydrolases, contains characteristic  $\beta$ -lactamase motifs, and displays homology to PBP/ $\beta$ -lactamases (Petersen et al., 2001; Weisberg et al., 2003). Site directed mutagenesis generated a variant in which the catalytic residue is located within the  $\beta$ -lactamase motif; however, EstB

shows no peptidase activity. Surprisingly, it is able to hydrolyze short-chain fatty acid esters and triglycerides. It is interesting to note that the polymorphism of LACTB is associated with an allergy to penicillin (Apter et al., 2008). Recent studies have shown that  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics are potential therapeutic drugs to treat some neurological disorders like ischemia or amyotropic lateral sclerosis (Rothstein et al., 2005; Chu et al., 2006). However, it remains to be elucidated if LACTB plays a role in mediating the neuroprotective effect of  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. Further experimental studies are required to characterize the catalytic activity of LACTB in order to reveal if LACTB also has an enzymatic function.

# **5.6 Subcellular and submitochondrial localization of a soluble LACTB**

The subcellular localization of the protein might give an important clue about its physiological function. Immunoblotting of a rat liver subfractions indicated that LACTB was localized in mitochondria. Investigation of submitochondrial localization of LACTB by immunoblotting revealed that LACTB like OPA1 and AIF is localized in the mitochondrial intermembrane space. Immunoelectron microscopy experiments confirmed submitochondrial localization of LACTB. Further studies done by colleagues (N. Peitsaro, A. Dapkunas, M. Linder) supported the results that LACTB is a mitochondrial protein. The immunocytochemistry experiments on HeLa cells expressing mtRFP revealed that endogenous LACTB and mtRFP shared a similar intracellular distribution (III, fig. 1A). In addition, a full-length LACTB and a truncated LACTB which lacks N-terminal 97 amino acids were fused to C-terminal GFP tag and expressed in HeLa mtRFP cells. The expression results demonstrated that the mitochondrial import of LACTB depends on its N-terminal amino acid sequence (III, fig. 1B). Immunoblotting of LACTB association with mitochondrial membranes revealed that LACTB is a soluble protein. Collectively, these results demonstrate that LACTB is a soluble mitochondrial intermembrane space protein.

In contrast to our experimental evidence, LACTB has been detected in mitochondria as part of a mitochondrial ribosomal complex (Koc et al., 2001). In this study mitochondrial ribosomes were purified from bovine liver by sucrose gradient centrifugation and all the identified proteins of unknown function were classified as ribosomal proteins. We propose that due to a similar sedimentation coefficient the LACTB migrated with the mitochondrial ribosomes.

# 5.7 Expression of LACTB mRNA and protein

The results of LACTB mRNA expression indicated that LACTB is expressed in all normal human tissues. The highest expression level of LACTB mRNA was observed in tissues having a high rate of oxidative metabolism suggesting that LACTB is linked to

mitochondrial function. Most cancer cell lines have an increased rate of glycolysis, an impaired oxidative phosphorylation, and are resistant to apoptosis (Gogvadze et al., 2008). The lower levels of LACTB mRNA in several cancer cell lines support the role of LACTB in energy metabolism. Altogether, the presence of LACTB in all tissues suggests that LACTB may be involved in essential cellular functions.

The results of LACTB protein expression in rat showed a different tissue distribution pattern. Conversely to high LACTB mRNA levels in the heart, skeletal muscle and brain of human tissues and rat tissues (A. Dapkunas data), the expression level of the LACTB protein was low in mitochondria of these tissues under our experimental conditions. These results suggest that LACTB might undergo different processing pathways in the heart, skeletal muscle and brain.

A first explanation for a lack of correlation between the mRNA abundance and the protein absence might involve different half-lives of proteins due to varied protein synthesis and degradation. A second reason for the different expression levels of mRNA and protein might be explained by posttranslational modifications associated with the production of protein from mRNA (Greenbaum et al., 2003). A posttranslational modification like lysine acetylation may regulate transcription, protein activity and stability. A recent study revealed that the lysine residue of LACTB is acetylated during starvation (Kim et al., 2006). It is interesting to note, that a variety of mitochondrial metabolic enzymes such as NADH dehydrogenase, isocitrate dehydrogenase, ATP synthase or glutamate dehydrogenase were also lysine-acetylated. This observation suggests that posttranslational lysine acetylation might regulate the activity of LACTB. However, no significant difference was observed in the expression level of the LACTB protein between starved and fed rats. In contrast, ethanol had a profound effect on the LACTB protein expression level in liver. The metabolic consequence of ethanol is the increased lipogenesis, an impaired fatty acid oxidation and triglyceride elimination (You and Crabb, 2004). Additional experiments are needed to investigate the relationships between ethanol, nutritional state and LACTB protein level.

It has been shown that insulin increases the LACTB mRNA level in human skeletal muscle (Rome et al., 2003). In skeletal muscle, insulin modulates the mRNA level of some important genes like hexokinase II, Glut4, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, or lipoprotein lipase involved in glucose and lipid metabolism pathways (Laville et al., 1996; Pentergass et al., 1998; Rome et., 2003). Impaired glucose transport and lipid metabolism due to the elevated levels of fatty acid metabolites cause insulin resistance (Lowell et al., 2005). In turn, the insulin resistance may lead to type 2 diabetes which is usually associated with obesity (Kahn et al., 2006; Muoio and Newgard, 2008). Analysis of adipose tissue transcription profile of obese co-twins showed that genes involved in the mitochondrial branched-chain amino acid catabolism, fatty acid synthesis and β-oxidation pathways were down-regulated (Pietiläinen et al., 2008). Recently, Llp and Lactb were validated as obesity genes in complex metabolic disease traits (Chen et al., 2008). Llp knockout and Lactb transgenic mice had 20% increases in fat mass compared to the lean controls. Based on the evidence that the lipoprotein lipase is responsible for the hydrolysis of triglycerides into glycerol and fatty acids (Preiss-Landl et al., 2002), LACTB possibly is involved in fatty acid metabolism. Indeed, most recent studies analyzing altered genes in Lactb transgenic mice showed down regulation of fatty acid metabolic pathway (Yang et al., 2009).

# 5.8 Proteolytic processing of LACTB

The majority of nucleus-encoded mitochondrial proteins are translated on cytosolic ribosomes as precursors with N-terminal presequences that are proteolytically removed by specific processing peptidases during mitochondrial import (Gakh et al., 2002). Our results show that a 55 kDa mature LACTB is formed by the removal of 62 amino acids from the N-terminus of the LACTB preprotein. This proteolytic cleavage results in the N-terminus sequence starting from the amino acids: alanine, valine, proline, and isoleucine (AVPI). A hydrophobic sorting signal located in the presequence close to the cleavage site of the LACTB preprotein suggests that LACTB is processed by two-step cleavage: first, the matrix-targeting presequence is cleaved by mitochondrial processing peptidase; second, the intermembrane space-sorting signal is removed by the inner membrane peptidase.

For example, the Omi/HtrA2 precursor protein is imported into mitochondria, the hydrophobic transmembrane domain arrests it in the IMM, and the mitochondrial processing peptidases release a soluble mature Omi into the intermembrane space (Kadomatsu et al., 2007). LACTB like Omi/HtrA2 has a prokaryotic origin, belongs to the serine protease family, and is located in the mitochondrial intermembrane space (Vandenabeele et al., 2005; Vande Walle et al., 2008). It is possible that LACTB and Omi/HtrA2 proteins share similar mitochondrial import and processing pathways.

A data base analysis of the LACTB sequence predicts that the mitochondrial processing peptidases would recognize R61 and cleave at the G62 site. It is noteworthy that this cleavage discloses an N-terminal tetrapetide motif also found in a set of pro-apoptotic IAP antagonists (Eckelman et al., 2008). Pro-apoptotic IAP antagonists can bind to the BIRs via this N-terminal tetrapeptide motif and release active caspases (Liu, 2000; Wu, 2000). Proteins that bind to BIRs in an N-terminal IAP binding motif-dependent manner include: caspases (Srinivasula et al., 2001), *Drosophila* proteins Hid, Grim and Reaper (Bangs et al., 2000), Smac/Diablo (Verhagen et al., 2000), Omi/HtrA2 (Hegde et al., 2002), glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH), Nipsnap 3 and 4, leucine-rich pentatricopeptide motif-containing protein (LRPPR), and 3-hydroxyisobutyrate dehydrogenase (Verhagen et al., 2007) (fig. 14).

ClpX	ASKD	BIR 2
LRPPR	AIAA	
Nsp4	ATGP	
3HB	ASKT	
Reaper	AVAF	
GdH	SEAV	
Caspase-3	SGVD	
Caspase-7	SGPI	BIR 3
Caspase-9	ATPF	
Hid	A VP F	
GSPT/eRF3	AKPF	
Smac/Diablo	AVPI	
Omi/HtrA2	AVPS	
mLACTB	AVPI	
hLACTB	AAPA	

Fig. 14. Comparison of N-terminal tetrapeptide motif in mammalian and Drosophila IAP binding proteins. Grey background represents identical amino acids. ClpX is a regulatory component of the mitochondrial Clp protease; GSPT/eRF3 is an endoplasmic reticulum associated protein. Figure modified from Verhagen et al., 2007. Remarkably, LACTB groups together with these pro-apoptotic IAP antagonists suggesting that LACTB could interact with the BIR domain of IAPs, although, this hypothesis needs further studies.

All known mammalian IAP binding proteins, except Smac/Diablo, appear to have other essential functions in the cell (Verhagen et al., 2007). Omi/HtrA2 acts as a chaperone (Speiss et al., 1999), LRPPR is responsible for mitochondrial RNA transcript processing (Mili and Pinol-Roma, 2003), while GDH and 3-hydroxyisobutyrate dehydrogenase are mitochondrial metabolic enzymes. Therefore, LACTB might also have multiple functions: (i) interaction with proteins involved in apoptosis through its N-terminal tetrapeptide motif and (ii) participation in metabolic signaling processes (Rome et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2008). In support of the first notion is the experimental evidence that apoptosis induces macrophage death after the phagocytosis of extracellular bacteria (Frankenberg et al., 2008). We can speculate that LACTB, in addition to its hypothetical role in the PG degradation, may act as an apoptosis-inducing signal in phagocytes.

### **5.9 High molecular weight complex – polymeric filaments**

Analysis of mitochondrial intermembrane space proteins by 2D BN SDS-PAGE revealed that LACTB is a component of a multiprotein complex or it exists in a homopolymeric form. Most in vivo transient protein-protein interactions occur briefly to facilitate signaling or metabolic functions, while long-lasting protein-protein interactions favor a protein complex formation. Several proteins including GDH, carbamoylphosphate synthase, and the ribosomal subunits 60L and 40L co-migrated with LACTB. Carbamoylphosphate synthase and GDH are highly abundant proteins in liver mitochondria and like cytosolic ribosomal proteins may represent contaminants. Therefore, these findings support the hypothesis that LACTB forms a homopolymer. However, GDH has been observed to be released following tBid treatment of the liver mitochondria (Van Loo et al., 2002). This study suggests that part of the protein might be localized in the mitochondrial intermembrane space or is released under certain conditions from the matrix. Furthermore, a proteomics study of the mouse liver IMM revealed matrix proteins in their precursor form suggesting that the N-terminal targeting signals of these proteins had not yet been processed by mitochondrial matrix peptidase (Cruz et al., 2003). Interestingly, most co-migrated with LACTB participate in metabolic proteins that processes: carbamoylphosphate synthase participates in urea cycle, and GDH is a key regulatory enzyme in glutamate metabolism.

The hypothesis that LACTB forms a homopolymer was confirmed by EM studies. A CsCl-gradient fraction containing LACTB analyzed by EM revealed organized filaments. The heterogenous size of filaments suggested that a broad molecular mass range of LACTB upon electrophoretic separation might represent these filaments. Furthermore, results from the whole-mount immunoelectron microscopy confirmed that LACTB was a component of the filament. Based on analysis of the subunit organization of the LACTB filament, one subunit can accommodate 3-5 molecules of LACTB. These results suggest that the molecular weight of a subunit is 150-200 kDa. According to the molecular weight

of 200 kDa observed for the minor LACTB band upon electrophoresis, it is likely that LACTB polymer forms a homotetramer. Altogether, these results demonstrate that LACTB can polymerize and form a filament with an open symmetry. Homotrimerization of Omi/HtrA2 is mediated exclusively by the N-terminal region of the protease domain (Li et al., 2002). The oligomeric state of Omi/HtrA2 is essential for the serine protease activity suggesting that LACTB may also require polymerization for enzymatic activity.

Similar filaments were detected in the intracristal region of the intermembrane space of chemically fixed mitochondria by EM indicating that polymeric LACTB filaments exist in the intact mitochondria (**III**, fig. 3C). The results of immunoelectron microscopy of isolated mitochondria confirmed that LACTB formed clusters in the intermembrane space; however, this sample preparation method was unsuccesful to reveal the ultrastructure of the LACTB filament. Filaments observed in mitochondria were composed of globular subunits and resembled polymeric LACTB filaments. Measurements performed on these filaments and on LACTB polymers displayed a similar thickness and repeat distance (**III**). These results suggest that the isolated LACTB filaments and the intramitochondrial filaments represent the same structure. Furthermore, the observation that LACTB polymers can form *in situ* suggest that the ordered polymerization process of LACTB has a specific physiological function.

Our studies revelead that LACTB filaments localized preferentially in the intracristal region of the intermembrane space and had its ends tethered to the IMM (III, fig. 3C). Submitochondrial inner membrane vesicles which contain only membrane components and membrane-bound macromolecules (III, supplementary fig. S5) were chemically fixed and analyzed by EM. The results showed that submitochondrial inner membrane vesicles contained filaments tethered to the membrane of vesicle by its ends (III, fig. 3D). In conclusion, LACTB filaments form a stable module via interactions with IMM components proposing that LACTB has a structural function. In support of this notion is experimental evidence of quantitative immunobloting indicating that LACTB is abundant protein and therefore it has the potential to impact mitochondrial ultrastructure.

Consequently, the question has arisen as to if these filaments have been visualized by others. Indeed, similar helical filaments have been observed in early EM studies of mitochondria (Sasaki et al., 1991; Tandler et al., 1996). The helical filaments were localized in the mitochondrial intermembrane space of different tissues in a variety of species. The dimensional parameters of the intramitochondrial helical filaments corresponded well in the various cell types (Sasaki et al., 1991). According to discussions in previous reports, it was proposed that the helical filaments are composed of lipids or phospholipids (Svoboda and Higginson, 1964), or DNA-protein complexes (Mugaini and Walberg, 1964; Jessen, 1968). Other authors considered that helical filaments in mitochondria may emerge in consequence of a special metabolism or a metabolic disorder that result in the accumulation of abnormal proteinaceous substances that aggregate into helical filaments. Dysregulation of metabolism or metabolic disorders due to protein deficiency (Behnke, 1965), alcoholism (Iseri et al., 1966), and certain renal diseases in human (Suzuki et al., 1975) may cause mitochondria to synthesize the helical filaments (Sasaki and Suzuki, 1989; Sasaki et al., 1995). An indication that LACTB is related to metabolic disorders (Schadt et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2009) might support the hypothesis that metabolism dysregulation is the cause for the appearance of filaments. Therefore, it is of interest to investigate if these helical filaments are present in obesity models.

Several groups, including ours, have seen filaments under normal conditions (Mugnaini and Walberg, 1964; Svoboda and Higginson, 1964) indicating that these filaments are not merely pathological products in the mitochondria. Filaments have been detected only in some parts of the mitochondria population within one cell suggesting that the filaments are related to a particular phase in the life of the organelle.

It should be noted, that the IMM shows a dynamic subcompartmentalization where proteins redistribute between inner boundary membrane and crista membrane depending on the physiological state of the cell (Volgel et al., 2006). The crista represents a sink for metabolites, proteins and assembly intermediates of respiratory supracomplexes (Mannella, 2006; Volgel et al., 2006). Studies revealed that ATP synthase and complex III are assembled on the crista membrane trapping the protons inside the cristae (Gilkerson et al., 2003; Strauss et al., 2008). The compartmentation of protons and ADP allows an efficient electron transfer and respiration. Furthermore, the topology of the inner membrane might influence mitochondrial functions. In addition to ATP synthase, tBid, AIF, and OPA1 oligomers can modulate the crista morphology. For example, aberrant and dilated cristae have been observed in mitochondria of AIF deficient neurons (Cheung et al., 2006). OPA1 controls apoptotic crista remodeling by segregating the cytochrome c in the intracristal space (Frezza et al., 2006). Thus compartmentation of the LACTB together with the metabolites and the proteins involved in apoptosis suggest that LACTB might play a role in core energy metabolism and apoptotic process.

Interestingly, Mootha's group assigned LACTB as a possible respiratory complex Iassociated protein through phylogenetic profiling (Pagliarini et al, 2008). Our phylogenetic study supports the notion that *S. cerevisiae*, lacking respiratory chain complex I, has no homologs of LACTB. A link between LACTB and several other potential complex Iassociated proteins, involved in branched-chain amino acid catabolism and lipid breakdown, further underscore the importance of LACTB in metabolic pathways.

The mitochondrial membrane architecture is highly dynamic, undergoing ultrastructural rearrangement in response to the metabolic (Hackenbrock, 1968), cell proliferation and death signals (Scorrano et al, 2002; Sun et al., 2007). It has been indicated that proteins involved in organizing the bacterial shape and division show homology to the eukaryotic cytoskeletal proteins such as actin, tubulin and intermediate filaments (review by Cabeen and Jacob-Wagner, 2005). Therefore, the question has risen if bacterial cytoskeletal proteins are linked to the PG synthesis machinery. Cabee and Jacob-Wagner suggested that PBPs might be a molecular link between the bacterial cytoskeleton and PG. Interestingly, during evolution green plants preserved some bacterial PG genes in chloroplasts. It was revealed that genes responsible for the PG synthesis pathway are essential for chloroplast division in moss (Machida et al., 2006). Both chloroplast and mitochondria evolved through endosymbiosis. Structural proteins like actin, tubulin and intermediate filaments form polymers with an open symmetry. Based on these studies, the finding that LACTB can form homopolymers suggests that LACTB possibly has a structural role in the organization of the mitochondrial supramolecular architecture. We propose that compartmentalized LACTB probably together with some other proteins forms a dynamic molecular scaffold, promoting metabolon assembly. The potential role of LACTB in the metabolon assembly might be associated with organizing enzymes for fatty acid metabolism. We can speculate that LACTB might be involved in the regulation of the mitochondrial carnitine system, which is responsible for the fatty acid transport to mitochondria (Kerner and Hoppel, 2000). In support of this hypothesis is the observation that cystoskeletal proteins regulate carnitine palmitoyltranferase I activity (Velasco et al., 1998). In conclusion, our findings underscore the significance of the mitochondrial intermembrane space integrity for coordination processes governing both cell proliferation and death.

# 6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Based on the main findings of this thesis, we can conclude the following:

- The full-length N-terminal GST fusion protein was obtained indicating that the expression of the *Lactb* gene in *E. coli* was successful.
- LACTB is conserved from bacteria to humans. LACTB has evolved from the penicillin binding-proteins present in the bacterial periplasmic space.
- LACTB is expressed in all normal tissues suggesting that LACTB is involved in regulating essentianl cellular functions.
- LACTB is a soluble protein localized in the mitochondrial intermembrane space. The mitochondrial import of LACTB depends on the N-terminal amino acid sequence of the protein.
- Proteolytic processing of LACTB discloses an N-terminal tetrapeptide motif shared by other mitochondrial proteins involved in apoptotic signal transduction.
- LACTB can polymerize to form filaments, possibly together with other protein(s). LACTB filaments demarcate a distinct mitochondrial microdomain. A potential role of the LACTB filaments is suggested in mitochondrial intermembrane space organization and/or mitochondrial metabolic signaling.

The importance of *Lactb*, as a new obesity-inducing gene, was revealed in a survey of complex disease traits (Schadt et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2009). Based on our findings, we propose that LACTB have multiple functions in mitochondria – (i) impact mitochondrial ultrastructure, (ii) involved in metabolism and (iii) associated with apoptosis sensing.

Structural proteins control cell shape and cell division of eukaryotes and prokaryotes (Amos et al., 2004). PBPs are required for bacteria and moss chloroplast division (Morlot et al., 2004; Machida et al., 2006). Mammalian mitochondria undergo structural changes during apoptosis (Delivani and Martin, 2006; Sun et al., 2007). These evident propose that LACTB filaments are involved in the dynamics of the mitochondrial intermembrane space. The role of LACTB in fusion-fission events remains a challenging hypothesis that needs to be further investigated.

Increasing evidences show that cellular metabolism and cell survival are regulated by growth factors that modulate the function of proteins involved in glucose metabolism and apoptosis (Hammerman et al., 2004; Heiden et al., 2001). Therefore, the main question arises whether there is a link between LACTB, mitochondrial ultrastructure, metabolism and apoptosis processes (fig. 15).



Fig. 15. Triangle – a potential role of LACTB in cell processes.

An additional hypothesis could be addressed for further understanding the function of LACTB in obesity metabolic disorder caused by inflammatory factors. The major components of the bacterial cell wall, lipopolysaccharide and PG, trigger an immune response in mammals (Hamilton et al., 2006; Cani et al., 2007) suggesting that LACTB could be implicated in innate immunity.

Further studies may answer some important questions: what benefit does the eukaryotic cell gain by retaining the LACTB, what triggers LACTB polymerization, what enzymatic substrate(s) does LACTB metabolize. Detailed knowledge of the LACTB function might offer a tool to treat mitochondria-related diseases. It is evident that LACTB is a protein that merits further study.

## REFERENCES

Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O. (2006) Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell 124, 783-801.

**Ameisen JC.** (2002) On the origin, evolution, and nature of programmed cell death: a timeline of four billion years. *Cell Death Diff* 9, 367-93.

**Amos LA**. (2004) Structural/functional homology between the bacterial and eukaryotic cytoskeletons. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 16, 24-31.

Apter AJ, Schelleman H, Walker A, et al. (2008) Clinical and genetical risk factors of self-reported penicillin allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immun* 122, 152-8.

**Baines CP**, Kaiser RA, Purcell NH, et al. (2005) Loss of cyclophilin D reveals a critical role for mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death. *Nature* 434, 658-62.

Baines CP, Kaiser RA, Sheiko T, et al. (2007) Voltage-dependent anion channels are dispensable for mitochondrial-dependent cell death. *Nat Cell Biol* 9, 550-5.

**Bains RK**, Wells SE, Flavell DM, et al. (2004) Visceral obesity without insulin resistance in late-onset obesity rats. *Endocrinology* 145, 2666-79.

**Baker MJ**, Frazier AE, Gulbis JM, et al. (2007) Mitochondrial protein-import machinery: correlating structure with function. *Trends Cell Biol* 17, 456-64.

**Bandyopadhyay GK,** Yu JG, Ofrecio J, et al. (2006) Increased malonyl-CoA levels in muscle from obese and type 2 diabetic subjects lead to decreased fatty acid oxidation and increased lipogenesis. *Diabetes* 55, 2277-85.

**Bangs P**, Franc N, White K. (2000) Molecular mechanisms of cell death and phagocytosis in *Drosophila*. *Cell Death Diff* 7, 1027-34.

Barja G. (2004) Free radicals and aging. Trends Neurosci 27, 595-600.

Barroso I. (2005) Genetics of type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med 22, 517-35.

Beckman KB, Ames BN. (1998) The free radical theory of aging matures. Physiol Rev 78, 574-581.

Behnke O. (1965) Helical filaments in rat liver mitochondria. Exp Cell Res 37, 687-9.

**Belzacq A-S,** Vieira HLA, Verrier F, et al. (2003) Bcl-2 and Bax modulate adenine nucleotide translocase activity. *Cancer Res* 63, 541-546.

Bergman RN, Ader M. (2000) Free fatty acids and pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 11, 351-6.

**Bonifati V**, Rizzu P, van Baren MJ, et al. (2003) Mutations in the DJ-1 gene associated with autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism. *Science* 299, 256-9.

**Boussau B**, Karlberg EO, Frank AC, et al. (2004) Computational inference of scenarios for alphaproteobacterial genome evolution. *PNAS* 101, 9722-7.

**de Brito OM,** Scorrano L. (2008) Mitofusin 2 tethers endoplasmic reticulum to mitochondria. *Nature* 456, 605-10.

**Bruce CR,** Hoy AJ, Turner N, et al. (2009) Overexpression of carnitine palmitoyltranferase-1 in skeletal muscle is sufficient to enhance fatty acid oxidation and improve high-fat diet-induced insulin resitance. *Diabetes* 58, 550-8.

**Buffenstein R,** Edrey YH, Yang T, et al. (2008) The oxidative stress theory of aging: embattled or invincible? Insights from non-traditional model organism. *Age* 30, 100-9.

**Bush K**, Jacoby GA, Medeiros A. (1995) A functional classification for  $\beta$ -Lactamases and its correlation with molecular structure. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 39, 1211-33.

Cabeen MT, Jacobs-Wagner C. (2005) Bacterial cell shape. Nat Microbiol 3, 601-10.

**Cani PD**, Amar JA, Iglesias MA, et al. (2007) Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 56, 1761-72.

**Cardoso RM**, Daniels DS, Bruns CM, et al. (2003) Characterization of the electrophile bindings site and substrate binding mode of the 26-kDa glutathione S-transferase from *Schistosoma japonicum*. *Proteins* 51, 137-46.

**Casley CS**, Lanevari L, Cand JM, et al. (2002)  $\beta$ -amyloid inhibits integrated mitochondrial respiration and key enzyme activities. *J Neurochem* 80, 91-100.

Chacinska A, Koehler CM, Milenkovic D, et al. (2009) Importing mitochondrial proteins: machineries and mechanisms. *Cell* 138, 628-44.

**Chan CB,** De Leo D, Joseph JW, et al. (2001) Increased uncoupling protein-2 levels in  $\beta$ -cells are associated with impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. *Diabetes* 50, 1302-10.

**Chatterjee S,** Szustakowski JD, Nangueneri NR, et al. (2009) Identification of novel genes and pathways regulating SREBP transcription activity. *PloS One* 4, e5197.

**Chen Y**, Zhu J, Lum PY, et al. (2008) Variations in DNA elucidate molecular networks that cause disease. *Nature* 452, 429-435.

**Chen H,** Detmer SA, Ewald AJ, et al. (2003) Mitofusins Mfn1 and Mfn2 coordinately regulate mitochondrial fusion and are essential for embryonic development. *J Cell Biol* 160, 189-200.

**Cheung EC**, Joza N, Steenaart NA, et al. (2006) Dissociating the dual roles of apoptosis-inducing factor in maitaining mitochondrial structure and apoptosis. *EMBO J* 25, 4061-73.

**Choi CS,** Fillmore JJ, Kim JK, et al. (2007) Overexpression of uncoupling protein 3 in skeletal muscle protects against fat-induced insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* 7, 1995-2003.

**Chu K**, Lee S-T, Sinn D-I, et al. (2007) Pharmacological induction of ischemic tolerance by glutamate transporter-1 (EAAT2) upregulation. *Stroke* 38, 177-82.

**Clark HF**, Gurney AL, Abaya E, et al. (2003) The secreted protein initiative (SPDI), a large-scale effort to identify novel human secreted and transmembrane proteins: a bioinformatics assessment. *Genome Res* 13, 2265-70.

**Da Cruz S**, Xenarios I, Langridge J, et al. (2003) Proteomic analysis of the mouse liver mitochondrial inner membrane. *J Biol Cheml* 278, 41566-71.

**Csordas G**, Renken C, Varnai P, et al. (2006) Structural and functional features and significance of the physical linkage between ER and mitochondria. *J Cell Biol* 174, 915-921.

**Danial NN**, Walensky LD, Zhang C-Y, et al. (2008) Dual role of proaptotic BAD in insulin secretion and beta cell survival. *Nat Med* 14, 144-53.

**Darios F**, Cortio O, Lucking CB, et al. (2003) Parkin prevents mitochondrial swelling and cytochrome c release in mitochondrial depended cell death. *Hum Mol Genet* 12, 517-26.

**Detmer SA,** Chan DC. (2007) Function and dysfunction of mitochondrial dynamics. *Nat MolCell Biol* 8, 870-9.

de Duve C. (2007) The origin of eukaryotes: a reappraisal. Nat Rev Genet 8, 395-403

**Delettre C**, Lenaers G, Griffoin JM, et al. (2002) OPA1 (Kjer type) optic atrophy: a novel mitochondrial disease. *Mol Genet Metab* 75, 97-107.

**Delivani P**, Martin SJ. (2006) Mitochondrial membrane remodeling in apoptosis: an inside story. *Cell Death Diff* 13, 2007-20.

**Devin A**, Rigoulet M. (2007) Mechanisms of mitochondrial response to variations in energy demand in eukaryotic cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 292, C52-8.

**Du H**, Guo L, Fang F, et al. (2008) Cyclophilin D deficiency attenuates mitochondrial and neuronal perturbation and ameliorates learning and memory in Azhaimer's disease. *Nat Med* 14, 1097-105.

**Eckelman BP**, Drag M, Snipas SJ, et al. (2008) The mechanism of peptide-binding specificity of IAP BIR domains. *Cell Death Diff* 15, 920-8.

**Eberhardt C**, Kuerschner L, Weiss DS. (2003) Probing the catalytic activity of a cell division-specific transpeptidase *in vivo* with beta-lactams. *J Bacteriol* 15, 3723-34.

Eliseev RA, Malecki J, Lester T, et al. (2009) Cyclophilin D interacts with Bcl2 and exerts anti-apoptotic effect. *J Biol Chem* 284, 9692-99.

Embley TM, Martin W. (2006) Eukaryotic evolution, changes and challenges. Nature 440, 623-30.

**Estaquier J,** Arnoult D. (2007) Inhibiting Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission selectively prevents the release of cytochrome c during apoptosis. *Cell Death Diff* 14, 1086-94.

**Finkel T**, Holbrook NJ. (2000) Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of aging. *Nat Cell Biol* 408, 239-47.

**Fornai F**, Schluter OM, Lenzi P, et al. (2005) Parkinson-like syndrome induced by continuous MPTP infusion: convergent roles of the ubiquitin-proteosome system and alpha-synuclein. *PNAS* 102, 3413-18.

**Frankenberg T**, Kirschenk S, Hacker H, et al. (2008) Phagocytosis-induced apoptosis of macrophages is linked to uptake, killing and degradation. *Eur J Immunolo* 38, 204-15.

**Frezza C**, Cipolat S, de Brito OM, et al. (2006) OPA1 controls apoptotic cristae remodeling independently from mitochondrial fusion. *Cell* 126, 177-89.

Frey TG, Renken CW, Perkins GA. (2002) Insight into mitochondrial structure and function from electron tomography. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1555, 196-203.

Friedman JM, Halaas JL. (1998) Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature* 395, 763-70.

Gakh O, Cavadini P, Isaya G. (2002) Mitochondrial processing peptidases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1592, 63-77.

**Gaucher SP**, Kang SW, Fahy E, et al. (2003) Expanded coverage of the human heart mitochondrial proteome using multidimensional liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. *J Proteome Res* 3, 495-505.

**Gilkerson RW**, Selker JM, Capaldi R. (2003) The crystal membrane of mitochondria is the principal site of oxidative phosphorylation. *FEBS Lett* 546, 335-358.

**Bompard-Gilles C**, Remaut H, Villert V, et al. (2000) Crystal structure of a D-aminopeptidase from Ochrobactrum anthropi, a new member of the 'penicillin-recognizing enzyme' family. *Structure* 8, 917-80.

**Ghosh AS**, Chowdhury C, Nelson DE. (2008) Physiological functions of D-alanine carboxypeptidases in *E. coli. Trends Microbiol* 16, 309-17.

Ghuysen J-M. (1991) Serine beta-lactamases and penicillin binding proteins. Annu Rev Microbiol 45, 37-67.

**Ghuysen J-M**. (1994) Molecular structures of penicillin-binding proteins and beta-lactamases. *Mol Mechanisms* 2, 372-79.

**Glickman MH**, Ciechanover A. The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway: destruction for the sake of construction. *Physiol Rev* (2002) 82, 373-428.

Gogvadze V, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B. (2008) Mitochondria in cancer cells: what is so special about them? *Trends Cell Biol* 18, 165-73.

**Gray CW**, Ward RV, Karran E, et al. (2000) Characterization of human HtrA2, a novel serine protease involed in the mammalian cellular stress response. *Eur J Biochem* 267, 5699-710.

**Greenbaum D**, Colangelo C, Williams K, et al. (2003) Comparing protein abundance and mRNA expression levels on a genome scale. *Genome Biol* 4, 117.

Van Gurp M, Festjens N, Van Loo G, et al. (2003) Mitochondrial intermembrane proteins in cell death. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 304, 487-97.

**Invitrogen catalog**, www.invitrogen.com, pENTR Directional TOPO cloning kits; E. coli Expression system with Gateway Technology; pcDNA-DEST47 Gateway vector. Manuals-2005.

**Iseri OA**, Lieber CS, Gottlier LS. (1966) The ultrastructure of fatty liver induced by prolonged ethanol ingestion. *Am J Pathol* 48, 535-55.

Itani SI, Ruderman NB, Schmieder F, et al. (2002) Lipid-induced insulin resistance in human muscle is associated with changes in diacylglycerol, protein kinase C, and  $I\kappa B-\alpha$ . *Diabetes* 51, 2005-11.

Hackenbrock CR. (1968) Chemical and physical fixation of isolated mitochondria in low-energy and highenergystates. *PNAS* 61, 598-605.

Hail NJr, Carter BZ, Konopleva M, et al. (2006) Apoptosis effector mechanisms: a requiem performed in different keys. *Apoptosis* 11, 889-904.

**Hall BG**, Barlow M. (2004) Evolution of the serine  $\beta$ -lactamases: past, present and future. *Drug Resist Updat* 7, 111-23.

Hamilton A, Popham DL, Carl DJ, et al. (2006) Penicillin-binding protein 1a promotes resistance of the group B Streptococcus to antimicrobial peptides. *Infect Immun* 74, 6179-87.

Hammerman PS, Fox CJ, Thompson CB. (2004) Beginning of a signal-transduction pathway for bioenergetic control of cell survival. *Trends Biochem Sci* 29, 586-92.

Harlin H, Reffey SB, Duckett CS, et al. (2001) Characterization of XIAP-deficient mice. *Mol Cell Biol* 21, 3604-608.

Harper ME, Bevilacqua L, Hagopian K, et al. (2004) Ageing, oxidative stress, and mitochondrial uncoupling. *Acta Physiol Scand* 182, 321-31.

**Rathke-Hartlieb S**, Schlomann U, Heimann P, et al. (2002) Progressive loss of striatal neurons causes motor dysfunction in MND2 mutant mice and is not prevented by Bcl-2. *Exp Neurol* 175, 87-97.

**He Y**, Reichow S, Ramamoorthy S, et al. (2006) *Brucella melitensis* triggers time-dependent modulation of apoptosis and down-regulation of mitochondrion-associated gene expression in mouse macrophages. *Infect Immun* 74, 5035-46.

**Hegde R**, Srinivasula SM, Zhang Z, et al. (2002) Identification of Omi/HtrA2 as a mitochondrial apoptotic serine protease that disrupts inhibitor of apoptosis protein-caspase interaction. *J Bioch Chem* 277, 432-38.

Vander Heiden MG, DR Plas, Rathmell JC, et al. (2001) Growth factors can influence cell growth and survival through effects on glucose metabolism. *Mol Cell Biol* 21, 5899-912.

Holand WL, Brozinick JT, Wang LP, et al. (2007) Inhibition of ceramide synthesis ameliorates glucocorticoid-, saturated-fat-, and obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Cell Metab* 5, 167-179.

Holt IJ, He J, Mao C-C, et al. (2007) Mammalian mitochondrial nucleoids: organizing an independently minded genome. *Mitochondrion* 7, 311-21.

Höltje JV. (1998) Growth of the stress-bearing and shape-maintaining murein sacculus of *E.coli*. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 62, 181-203.

Hsu LJ, Sagara Y, Arryoto A, et al. (2000) Alpha-synuclein promotes mitochondrial deficit and oxidative stress. *Am J Pathol* 157, 401-10.

**James DI,** Parone PA, Mattenberger Y, et al. (2003) hFis1, a novel component of the mammalian mitochondrial fission machinery. *J Biol Chem* 278, 36373-79.

**Jessen G.** (1964) The morphology and distribution of mitochondria of the corpus stratium in the rat. *J Cell Biol* 23, 173-82.

**Joseph JW**, Koshkin V, Saleh MC, et al. (2004) Free fatty acid-induced  $\beta$ -cel defects are dependednt on uncoupling protein 2 expression. *J Biol Chem* 279, 51049-56.

John P, Whatley FR. (1975) *Paracoccus denitrificans* and the evolutionary origin of mitochondria. *Nature* 245, 495-8.

**Johung K**, Goodwin EC, DiMaio D. (2007) Human papillomavirus E7 in cervical carcinoma cells initiates a transcriptional cascade driven by the retinoblastoma family, resulting in senescence. *Infect Immun* 81, 5035-46.

**Kadomatsu T**, Mori M, Terada K. (2007) Mitochondrial import of Omi: the definite role of the putative transmembrane region and multiple processing sites in the amino-terminal segment. *Biochim Biophys Res Comm* 361, 516-21.

Kahn SE, Hull RL, Utzschneider KM. (2006) Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin residence and type 2 diabetes. *Nature* 444, 840-6.

Karbowski M, Lee YJ, Gaume B, et al. (2002) Spatial and temporal association of Bax with mitochondrial fission sites, Drp1 and Mfn 2 during apoptosis. *J Cell Biol* 159, 931-38.

Karbowski M, Norris KL, Cleland MM, et al. (2006) Role of Bax and Bak in mitochondrial morphogenesis. *Nature* 443, 658-62.

Kaufmann SH, Hengartner MO. (2001) Programmed cell death: alive and well in the new millenium. *Trends Cell Biol* 11, 526-34.

Kelly JA, Kuzin AP. (1995) The refined crystallographic structure of a DD-peptidase penicillin-target enzyme at 16 Å resolution. *J Mol Biol* 254, 223-36.

Kerner J, Hoppel C. (2000) Fatty acid import into mitochondria. Biochim Biophys Acta 1486, 1-17.

**Kim TH,** Zhao Y, Ding WX, et al. (2004) Bid-cardiolipin interaction at mitochondrial contact site contribute to mitochondrial cristae reorganization and cytochrome c release. *Mol Biol Cell* 15, 3061-72.

**Kim SC**, Sprung R, Chen Y, et al. (2006) Substrate and functional diversity of lysine acetylation revealed by a proteomics survey. *Mol Cell* 23, 607-18.

Kim J, Wei Y, Sowers JR. (2008) Role of mitochondria in insulin resistance. Circ Res 102, 401-14.

**Kitada T**, Asakawa S, Hattori N, et al. (1998) Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature* 392, 605-8.

**Knott AB**, Perkins G, Schwarzenbacher R, et al. (2008) Mitochondrial fragmentation in neurodegeneration. *Nat Neurosc* 9, 505-18.

**Koc EC**, Burkhart W, Blackburn K, et al. (2001) The Large Subunit of the Mammalian Mitochondrial Ribosome. Analysis of the complement of ribosomal proteins present. *J Biol Chem* 267, 43958-69.

**Kokoszka JE**, Waymire KG, Levy SE, et al. (2004) The ADP/ATP translocator is not essential for the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Nature* 427, 461-5.

Koves TR, Ussher JR, Noland RC, et al. (2008) Mitochondrial overload and incomplete fatty acid oxidation contribute to skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Cell Metab* 7, 45-56.

**Kroemer G,** Galluzzi L, Brenner C. (2007) Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death. *Physiol Rev Biol* 87, 99-163.

**Kraytsberg Y,** Kudryavtseva E, McKee E, et al. (2006) Mitochondrial DNA deletions are abundant and cause functional impairment in aged human substantial nigra neurons. *Nat Genet* 38, 518-20.

**de Kroon A,** Dolis D, Mayer A, et al. (1997) Phospholipid composition of highly purified mitochondrial outer membranes of rat liver and *Neurospora crassa*. Is cardiolipin present in the mitochondrial outer membrane? *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1325, 108-16.

**Preis-Landl T**, Zimmermann K, Hammerle R, et al. (2002) Lipoprotein lipase: the regulation of tissue specific expression and its role in lipid and energy metabolism. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 13, 471-81.

**Laville M**, Auboeuf D, Khalfallah Y, et al. (1996) Acute regulation by insulin of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase, Rad, Glut4, and Lipoprotein lipase mRNA levels in human muscle. *J Clin Invest* 98, 43-9.

Lee YJ, Jeong SY, Karbowski M, et al. (2004) Roles of the mammalian mitochondrial fission and fusion mediators Fis1, Drp1, and OPA1 in apoptosis. *Mol Biol Cell* 15, 5001-11.

Lee J, Xy Y, Chen Y, et al. (2007) Mitochondrial Phosphoproteome Revealed by an Improved IMAC Method and MS/MS/MS. *Mol Cell Proteom* 6, 669-76.

Lee J, Schriner SE, Wallace DC. (2009) Adenine nucleotide translocator 1 deficiency increases resistance of mouse brain and neurons to excitotoxic insults. *Biochim Bioph Acta* 1787, 364-370.

**Legros F,** Malka F, Franchon P, et al. (2004) Organization and dynamics of human mitochondrial DNA. *J Cell Sci* 117, 2653-62.

**Lemasters JJ**, Niemine AL, Qian T, et al. (1998) The mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death: a common mechanism in necrosis, apoptosis, and autophagy. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1366, 177-96.

Levi S, Rovida E. (2009) The role of iron in mitochondrial function. Biochim Biophys Acta 7, 629-36.

Li W, Srinivasula SM, Chai J, et al. (2002) Structural insights into the pro-apoptotic function of mitochondrial serine protease HtrA2/Omi. *Nat Struct Biol* 9, 436-41.

Lin MT, Beal MF. (2006) Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative disease. *Nature* 443, 787-95.

Liu Z, Sun C, Olejniczak ET, et al. Structural basis for binding of Smac/Diablo to the XIAP BIR3 domain. *Nature*-2000, 408, 1004-8.

Liu X, Weaver D, Shirihai O, et al. (2009) Mitochondrial 'kiss-and-run': interplay between mitochondrial motility and fusion-fission dynamics. *EMBO J* 28, 3074-89.

**Loblovsky E**, Moews PC, Liu H, et al. (1993) Evolution of an enzyme activity: crystallographic structure at 2 Å resolution of the cephalosporinase from the ampC gene of Enterobacter cloacae P99 and comparison with class A penicillinase. *PNAS* 90, 11257-61.

**Van Loo G**, Demol H, van Gurp M, et al. (2002) A matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization post-source decay (MALDI-PSD) analysis of proteins released from isolated liver mitochondira treated with recombinant truncated Bid. *Cell Death Diff* 9, 301-8.

Lovell JF, Billen LP, Bindner S, et al. (2008) Membrane binding by tBit initiates an ordered series of events culminating in membrane permeabilization by Bax. *Cell* 135, 1075-84.

Lowell BB, Shulman GI. (2005) Mitochondrial dysfunction and type 2 diabetes. Science 307, 384-7.

**Lustbader JW**, Cirilli M, Lin C, et al. (2004) ABAD directly links  $A\beta$  to mitochondrial toxicity in Azheimer's disease. *Science* 304, 448-52.

Lutz AK, Exner N, Fett ME, et al. (2009) Loss of Parkin or PINK1 function increases Drp 1-dependent mitochondrial fragmentation. *J Biol Chem* 284, 22938-51.

**Macheboeuf P**, Di Guilmi AM, Job V, et al. (2005) Active site reconstructing regulates ligand recognition in class A penicillin-binding proteins. *PNAS* 102, 577-82.

**Macheboeuf P**, Contreras-Martel C, Job V, et al. (2006) Penicillin binding proteins: key players in bacterial cell cycle and drug resistance processes. *FEMS Microb Rev* 30, 673-91.

**Machida M**, Takechi K, Sato H, et al. (2006) Genes for the peptidoglycan synthesis pathway are essential for chloroplast division in moss. *PNAS* 103, 6753-8.

Magrane J, Hervias I, Henning MS, et al. (2009) Mutant SOD1 in neuronal mitochondria causes toxicity and mitochondrial dynamics abnormalities. *Hum Mol Genet*, 18, 4552-64.

**Mannella C**. (2006) The relevance of mitochondrial membrane topology to mitochondrial function. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1762, 140-7.

Margulis L. (1981) Symbiosis in Cell Evolution. New York: W.H. Freeman.

Martin W, Muller M. (1998) The hydrogen hypothesis for the first eukaryote. Nature 392, 37-41.

**Martins LM**, Morrison A, Klupsh K, et al. (2004) Neuroprotective role of the Reaper-related serine protease HtrA2/Omi revealed by targeted deletion in mice. *Mol Cell Biol* 24, 9848-62.

**Massova I**, Mobashery S. (1998) Kinship and Diversification of Bacterial Penicillin-Binding Protein and  $\beta$ -Lactamases. *Antimicrob Agents Chemoter* 42, 1-17.

**Medeiros AA**. (1997) Evolution and dissemination of beta-lactamases accelerated by generation of beta-lactam antibiotics. *Clin Infec Dis* 24, S19-45.

Meier P, Finch A, Evans G. (2000) Apoptosis in development. Nature 407, 796-801.

Maier P, Vousden KH. (2007) Lucifer's labyrinth-ten years of path finding in cell death. *Mol Cell* 28, 746-54.

Melov S, Coskun P, Matel P, et al. (1999) Mitochondrial disease in superoxide dismutase 2 mutant mice. *PNAS* 96, 846-51.

**Mili S**, Pinol-Roma S. (2003) LRP130, a pentatricopeptide motif protein with a noncanonical RNA-binding domain, is bound in vivo to mitochondrial and nuclear RNAs. *Mol Cellular Biol* 23, 4972-82.

Mileykovskaya E, Dowhan W. (2009) Cardiolipin membrane domains in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1788, 2084-91.

**P Mitchell.** (1961) Coupling of phosphorylation to electron and hydrogen transfer by achemi-osmotic type of mechanism. *Nature* 191, 144-8.

**Model K,** Meisinger C, Kuhlbrand W. (2008) Mitochondrial overload and incomplete fatty acid oxidation contribute to skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *J Mol Biol* 383, 1049-57.

Morino K, Petersen KF, Shulman GI. (2006) Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in humans and their potential links with mitochondrial dysfunction. *Diabetes* 55, S9-S15.

**Morlot C**, Noirclerc-Savoye M, Zapun A, et al. (2004) The D,D-carboxypeptidase PBP3 organizes the division process of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Mol Microbiol* 51, 1641-48.

**Mootha VK**, Brunkenborg J, Olsen JV, et al. (2003) Integrated Analysis of Protein Composition, Tissue Diversity, and Gene Regulation in Mouse Mitochondria. *Cell* 115, 629-40.

Mugnaini E, Walberg F. (1964) Ultrastructure of neuroglia. Ergeb Anat Entwick 37, 194-236.

**Muoio DM**, Newgard CB. (2008) Molecular and metabolic mechanism of insulin resistance and  $\beta$ -cell failure in type 2 diabetes. *Nat Mol cell Biol Rev* 9, 193-205.

**Nakagawa T,** Shimizu S, Watanabe T, et al. (2005) Cyclophilin D-dependent mitochondrial permeability transition regulates some necrotic but not apoptotic cell death. *Nature* 434, 652-8.

Nanninga N. (1998) Morphogenesis of E.coli. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 62, 110-29.

Narendra D, Tanaka A, Suen D-F, et al. (2008) Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy. *JCB* 183, 795-803.

Nelson DL, Cox MM. (2008) Lehninger, Principles of biochemistry. New York: W.H. Freeman.

**Oberst A**, Bender C, Green DR. (2008) Living with death: the evolution of the mitochondrial pathways of apoptosis in animals. *Cell Death Diff* 15, 1139-46.

**Okada H**, Suh WK, Jim J, et al. (2002) Generation and characterization of Smac/Diablo-deficient mice. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 3509-17.

Oshima RG. (2007) Intermediate filaments: a historical perspective. Exp Cell Res 313, 1981-94.

**Ow YP,** Green DR, Hao Z, et al. (2008) Cytochrome c: functions beyond respiration. *Nat Mol Cell Biol* 9, 532-42.

**Pagliarini DJ**, Calvo SE, Chang B, et al. (2008) A mitochondrial protein compendium elucidates complex I disease biology. *Cell* 134, 112-23.

**Panov AV**, Gutekunst CA, Leavitt BR, et al. (2002) Early mitochondrial calcium defects in Huntington's disease are a direct effect of polyglutamines. *Nature Neurosci* 5, 731-6.

**Mercado-Pimentel ME**, Jordan NC, Aisemberg GO. (2002) Affinity purification of GST fusion proteins for immunohistochemical studies of gene expression. *Prot Expr Purif* 26, 260-5.

**Pendergrass M**, Koval J, Vogt C, et al. (1998) Insulin-induced hexokinase II expression is reduced in obesity and NIDDM. *Diabetes* 47, 387-94.

**Pereira SFF**, Henriques AO, Pinho MG, et al. (2009) Evidence of a dual role of PBP1 in cell division and cell separation of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Mol Microbiol* 72, 895-904.

Acín-Pérez R, Fernández-Silva P, Peleato ML, et al. (2008) Respiratory active mitochondrial supercomplexes. *Cell* 32, 529-39.

**Perkins GA**, Renken CW, Frey TG, et al. Membrane architecture of mitochondria in neurons of the central nervous system. *J Neurosci Res*-2001, 66, 857-65.

**Petersen EI**, Valinger G, Solkner B, et al. (2001) A novel esterase from *Burkholderia gladioli* which shows high deacetylation activity on cephalosporins is related to  $\beta$ -lactamase and DD-peptidases. *J Biotechnol* 89, 11-25.

**Peixoto PM,** Grana F, Roy TJ, et al. (2007) Awaiking TIM22, a dynamic ligand-gated channel for protein insertion in the mitochondrial inner membrane. *J Biol Chem* 282, 18694-701.

**Pietiläinen KH**, Naukkarinen J, Rissanen A, et al. (2008) Global transcript profiles of fat in monozygotic twins discordant for BMI: pathways behind acquired obesity. *PLoS Med* 5, e51.

**Pizzo P**, Pozzan T. (2007) Mitochondria-endoplasmic reticulum choreography: structure and signaling dynamics. *Trends Cell Biol* 17, 511-7.

**Popov-Celeketic D,** Mapa K, Neupert W, et al. (2008) Active remodelling of the TIM23 complex during translocation of preproteins into mitochondria. *EMBO J* 27, 671-80.

**Pospisilik JA**, Knauf C, Joza N, et al. (2007) Targeted deletion of AIF decreases mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and protects from obesity and diabetes. *Cell* 131, 476-91.

**Powers RA**, Caselli E, Focia PJ, et al. (2001) Structure of ceftazidime and its transition-state analogue in complex with AmpC  $\beta$ -Lactamase: implications for resistance mutations and inhibitor design. *Biochemistry* 40, 9207-14.

**Pujol N,** Zugasti O, Wong D, et al. (2008) Anti-fungal innate immunity in *C.elegans* is enhanced by evolutionary diversication of antimicrobial peptides. *PLoS Pathogs* 4, e1000105.

O'Rahilly S, Farooqi IS. (2006) Genetics of obesity. Phil Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 361, 1095-105.

**Rawlings ND**, Barrett AJ. (1994) Families of serine proteases, in A.J. Barett (Ed). Methods Enzymology. Academic Press, New York 16-90.

von Rechenberg M, Ursinus A, Höltje JV. (1996) Affinity chromatography as a means to study multienzyme-complexes involved in murein synthesis. *Microb Drug Resist* 2, 155-7.

**Rizzuto R**, Pozzan T. (2006) Microdomains of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>: molecular determinants and functional consequences. *Physiol Rev* 86, 369-408.

**Rome S**, Clément K, Rabsa-Lhoret R, et al. (2003) Microarray profiling of human skeletal muscle reveals that insulin regulates ~800 Genes during a Hyperinsulinemic Clamp. *J Biol Chem* 278, 18063-8.

**Ramirez-Romero R**. (1998) Is Brucella abortus a facultative intracellular pathogen with mitochondria-like activity? *Med Hypotheses* 51, 41-5.

Rose A, Meier I. (1998) Scaffolds, levers, rods and springs: diverse cellular function of long coiled-coil proteins. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 6, 1996-2009.

**Ross OA**, Soto AI, Vilarino-Güell C, et al. (2008) Genetic variation of Omi/HtrA2 and Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* 14, 539-43.

**Rothstein JD**, Patel S, Regan MR, et al. (2005) Beta-lactam antibiotics offer neuroprotection by increasing glutamate transporter expression. *Nature* 433, 73-7.

**Roy SS**, Ehrlich AM, Craigen WJ, et al. (2009) VDAC2 is required for truncated tBid-induced mitochondrial apoptosis by recruiting Bax to the mitochondria. *EMBO report*, Oct 9. [Epub ahead of print].

**Saitoh T,** Igura M, Orbita T, et al. (2007) Tom20 recognizes mitochondrial presequences through dynamic equilibrium among multiple bound states. *EMBO J* 26, 4777-87.

Sasaki H, Suzuki T. (1989) Intramitochondrial helical filaments in medullary tubules of the rat kidney J Ultrastruct Mol Struct Res 102, 229-39.

Sasaki H, Misawa T, Suzuki T, et al. (1991) Morphological analyses of the helical filaments appearing in mitochondria. *J Med* 38, 67-76.

Sasaki H, Kurioka S, Fukata H, et al. (1995) Isolation of intramitochondrial helical filaments appearing in outer compartment of mitochondria. *Anat Rec* 241, 149-54.

**Savopoulos JW**, Carter PS, Turconi S, et al. (2000) Expression, purification, and functional analysis of human serine protease HtrA2. *Prot Expre Puriff* 19, 227-34.

Sauvage E, Kerff F, Terrak M, et al. (2008) The penicillin-binding proteins: structure and role in peptidoglycan biosynthesis. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 32, 234-58.

Schadt EE, Lamb J, Yang X, et al. (2005) An integrative genomics approach to infer causal association between gene expression and disease. *Nat Genet* 37, 710-7.

Schapira AHV. (2002) Mitochondrial function and dysfunction. Academic press USA.

Schenk S, Seberi M, Olefsky JM. (2008) Insulin sensitivity: modulation by nutrients and inflammation. J Clin Inv 118, 2992-3002.

Scheffler IE. Mitochondria make a come back. (2001) Adv Drug Deliv Rev 49, 3-26.

**Scheffers DJ**, Pinho MG. Bacterial cell wall synthesis: new insights from localization studies. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev*-2005, 69, 585-607.

Scherer PE. (2006) Adipose tissue. From lipid storage compartment to endocrine organ. *Diabetes* 55, 1537-44.

Schwer B, Bunkenborg J, Verdin RO, et al. (2006) Reversible lysine acetylation controls the activity of the mitochondrial enzyme acetyl-CoA synthetase 2. *PNAS* 103, 10224-9.

Scorrano L, Ashiya M, Buttle K, et al. (2002) A distinct pathway remodels mitochondrial cristae and mobilizes cytochrome c during apoptosis. *Dev Cell* 2, 55-67.

**Scott LJ**, Mohlke KL, Bonnycastle LL, et al. (2007) A genome-wide associated study of type 2 diabetes in Finns detects multiple susceptibility variants. *Science* 316, 1341-45.

Smirnova E, Griparic I, Shurland DL et al. (2001) Dynamin-related protein Drp1 is required for mitochondrial division in mammalian cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 12, 2245-56.

**Smith TS**, Southan C, Ellington K, et al. (2001) Identification, genomic organization and mRNA expression of LACTB, encoding a serine  $\beta$ -Lactamase-like protein with an amino-terminal transmembrane domain. *Genomics* 78, 12-14.

**Cavalier-Smith T**. (2006) Origin of mitochondria by intracellular enslavement of a photosynthetic purple bacterium. *Proc Biol Sci* 273, 1943-52.

**Spiess C**, Beil A, Erhmann M. (1999) A temperature-dependent switch from chaperone to protease in a widely conserved heat shock protein. *Cell* 97, 339-47.

**Srinivasula SM**, Hegde R, Saleh A, et al. (2001) A conserved XIAP-interaction motif in caspase-9 and Smac/DIABLO regulates caspase activity and apoptosis. *Nature* 410, 112-6.

**Steiner H**. (2004) Peptidoglycan recognition proteins: on and off switches for innate immunity. *Immun Rev* 198, 83-96.

Strauss M, Hofhaus G, Schröder RR, et al. (2008) Dimer ribbons of ATP synthase shape the inner mitochondrial membrane. *EMBO J* 27, 1154-60.

Sugioka R, Shimizu S, Tsujimoto Y. (2004) Fzo1, a protein involved in mitochondrial fusion, inhibits apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 279, 52726-34.

**Sun MG**, Williams J, Munoz-Pinedo C, et al. (2007) Correlated three-dimensional light and electron microscopy reveals transformation of mitochondria during apoptosis. *Nat Cell Biol* 9, 1057-65.

Susin SA, Daugas E, Ravagnan L, et al. (2000) Two distinct pathways leading to nuclear apoptosis. *J Exp Med* 192, 571-80.

**Susuki T**, Furusato M, Takasaki M, et al. (1975) Giant mitochondria in the epithelial cells of the proximal convoluted tubules of diseased human kidney. *Lab Invest* 33, 578-90.

**Svoboda D**, Higginson J. (1964) Ultrastructural changes produced by protein and released deficiencies in the rat liver. *Am J Pathol* 45, 357-79.

**Tandler B**, Horne WI, Brittenham GM, et al. (1996) Giant mitochondria induced in rat pancreatic exocrine cells by ethanol and iron. *Anat Rec* 245, 65-75.

**Taylor SW**, Fahy E, Zhang B, et al. (2003) Characterization of the human heart mitochondrial proteome. *Nat Biotech* 21, 281-6.

Tokuyasu KT. (1973) A technique for ultracryotomy of cell suspensions and tissues. J Cell Biol 57, 551-65.

**Turnbaugh PJ,** Ley RL, Mahowald MA, et al. (2006) An obesity –associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature* 444, 1027-31.

**Tyynismaa H,** Suomalainen A. (2009) Mouse models of mitochondrial DNA defects and their relevance for human disease. *EMBO reports* 10, 137-43.

**Vahsen N**, Cande C, Briere J-J, et al. (2004) AIF deficiency compromises oxidative phosphorylation. *EMBO J* 23, 4679-89.

**Valente EM**, Abou-Sleiman PM, Caputo V, et al. (2004) Hereditary early-onset Parkinson's disease caused by mutations in PINK1. *Science* 304, 1158-60.

Vandenabeele P, Orenius S, Zhivotovsky B. (2005) Serine proteases and calpains fulfill import supporting in the apoptotic tragedy of the cellular opera. *Cell Death Diff* 12, 1219-24.

**Velasco G**, Geelen MJH, del Pulgar TG, et al. (1998) Malonyl-CoA-independent acute control of hepatic carnitine palmitoyltransferase I activity. *J Biol Chem* 273, 21497-504.

**Verhagen AM**, Ekert PG, M. Pakusch et al. (2000) Identification of DIABLO, a mammalian protein promotes apoptosis by binding to and antagonizing IAP proteins. *Cell* 102, 43-53.

**Verhagen AM**, Kratina TK, Hawkins CJ, et al. (2007) Identification of mammalian mitochondrial proteins that interact with IAPs via N-terminal IAP binding motifs. *Cell Death Diff* 14, 348-57.

**Vijayvergiya** C, Beal MF, Buck J, et al. (2005) Mutant superoxide dismutase 1 forms aggregates in the rain mitochondrial matrix of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurosci* 25, 2463-70.

**Vogel F**, Bornhövd C, Neupert W, et al. (2006) Dynamic subcompartmentalization of the mitochondrial inner membrane. *J Cell Biol* 175, 237-47.

**Wagner UG**, Petersen EI, Schwab H, et al. (2002) EstB from *Burkholderia gladioli*: a novel esterase with a  $\beta$ -lactamase fold reveals steric factors to discriminate between esterolytic and  $\beta$ -lactam cleaving activity. *Protein Sci* 11, 467-478.

**Wallace DC**. (2005) A mitochondrial paradigm of metabolic and degenerative diseases, aging, and cancer: a Dawn for evolutionary medicine. *Annu Rev Genet* 39, 359-407.

Vande Walle L, Lamkanfi M, Vandenabeele P. (2008) The mitochondrial serine protease HtrA2/Omi: an overview. *Cell Death Diff* 15, 453-60.

**Wang Y,** Bogenhagen DF. (2006) Human mitochondrial DNA nucleoids are linked to protein folding machinery and metabolic enzymes at the mitochondrial inner membrane. *J Biol Chem* 281, 25791-802.

**Wang X,** Su B, Siedlak SL, et al. (2008) Amyloid- $\beta$  overproduction causes abnormal mitochondrial dynamics via differential modulation of mitochondrial fission/fusion proteins. *PNAS* 105, 19318-23.

Wang H, Lim PJ, Karbowski M, et al. (2009) Effects of overexpression of Huntingtin proteins on mitochondrial integrity. *Hum Mol Genet* 18, 737-52.

Wei MC, Zong WZ, Cheng EH, et al. (2001) Proapoptotic Bax and Bak: a requisite gateway to mitochondrial dysfunction and death. *Science* 292, 727-30.

Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, et al. (2003) Obesity associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *J Clin Invest* 112, 1796-808.

**Yamaguchi R**, Lartigue L, Perkins G, et al. (2008) OPA1-mediated crista opening is Bax/Bak and BH3 dependent, required for apoptosis, and independent of Bak oligomerization. *Mol Cell* 31, 557-69.

**Yang L**, Sun M, Sun XM, et al. (2007) Akt attenuation of the serine protease activity of HtrA2/Omi through phosphorylation of serine 212. *J Biol Chem* 282, 10981-7.

**Yang X**, Deignan JL, Qi H, et al. (2009) Validation of causal genes for obesity that affect shared metabolic pathways and networks. *Nat Genet* 41, 415-23.

You M, Crabb DW. (2004) Recent advances in alcoholic liver disease II. Minireview: molecular mechanisms of alcoholic fatty liver. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 287, G1-G6.

**Young J,** Hoogenraad NJ, Hartl FU. (2003) Molecular chaperones Hsp90 and Hsp70 deliver preproteins to mitochondrial import receptor Tom70. *Cell* 112, 41-50.
**Youle RJ**, Strasser A. (2008) The Bcl-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. *Nat Mol Cell Biol* 9, 47-59.

Zamzami N, Kroemer G. (2001) The mitochondrion in apoptosis: how Pandora's box opens. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2, 67-71.

**Zeggini E**, Weedon MN, Lindgren CM, et al. (2007) Replication of genome-wide associaten signals in UK samples reveals risk loci for type 2 diabetes. *Science* 316, 1336-41.

**Zhang CY**, György B, Perret P, et al. (2001) Uncoupling protein-2 negatively regulates insulin secretion and is a major link between obesity,  $\beta$  cell dysfunction, and type 2 diabetes. *Cells* 105, 745-55.

**Zhang J**, Li X, Mueller M, et al. (2008) Systematic characterization of the murine mitochondrial proteome using functionally validated cardiac mitochondria. *Proteomics* 8, 1564-75.

**Zick M**, Rabl R, Reichert AS. (2009) Cristae formation-linking ultrastructure and function of mitochondria. *Biochem Biophys Acta* 1793, 5-19.